
Northern Inyo Healthcare District

Board Meeting
Board Meeting - September 17, 2025

Agenda

Agenda ............................................................................................................................ 3

Consent Agenda

Special Meeting Minutes - August 20, 2025 ................................................................. 6
Regular Meeting Minutes - August 20, 2025 ................................................................ 8
Administrator On-Call .................................................................................................. 22
Aerosolized Transmissible Disease Exposure PlanRespiratory Protection Pr ...... 24
Capital Budget Process ............................................................................................... 43
Critera for Storeroom Items ........................................................................................ 46
Death and Disposition of Body ................................................................................... 47
DI - MRI Safety Plan ...................................................................................................... 50
Emergency Purchase ................................................................................................... 52
Employee Health NIHD Workforce Onboarding Policy ............................................. 54
Standardized Procedure – Minor Surgical Procedures Policy for the Nurse Pr .... 63
Tuberculosis Exposure Control Plan ......................................................................... 67
Use of Medical Cannabis for Terminally Ill Patients ................................................. 85

Chief Executive Officer Report

Conflict of Interest Information ................................................................................... 90
Appointment of Committee Alternates ....................................................................... 95

Chief Nursing Officer / Chief Operating Officer Report

Director of Nursing and Outpatient Services ............................................................ 96
Inpatient Services ......................................................................................................... 98

Chief of Staff Report

Chief of Staff Report - September 2025 .................................................................... 100

Finance Committee

Capital Items for Approval Memo ............................................................................. 101
Capital Items - FY 25/26 Approval ............................................................................. 102

Chief Financial Officer Report

CFO Report Financial Summary and Operation Insights - July 2025 .................... 103
NIHD Financial Summary July 2025 ......................................................................... 107

Page 1 of 124



NIHD KPIs FYE July 2025 .......................................................................................... 110
NIHD Financial Update July 2025 .............................................................................. 112
NIHD Financial Statements July 2025 ...................................................................... 121

Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)

Page 2 of 124

http://www.tcpdf.org


 

Vision Statement 
 

To be an energized, high performing advocate for the communities we 
serve, our patients and our staff. The board governs with an eye on the 
future of health care and its effects on the District and patient care. 
The Board is committed to continuous evaluation, dedication to our 
mission, and improvements as a board. 
 

Values 
 

* Integrity * Innovate Vision * Stewardship * Teamwork * 

Mission 
 

* Strong Stewardship * Ethical Oversight * 
*Eternal Local Access * 

AGENDA 
 

NORTHERN INYO HEALTHCARE DISTRICT 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS - REGULAR MEETING 

 
September 17, 2025, 5:00 pm  

Northern Inyo Healthcare District invites you to join this meeting 
 

TO CONNECT VIA ZOOM:  (A link is also available on the NIHD Website) 
https://us06web.zoom.us/j/3257893484?pwd=VrgnzdFhLFICk7h6MlbfqehXlilrqm.1#success 
Meeting ID: 325 789 3484 
Password: 623576 
 
PHONE CONNECTION: 
(669) 444-9171 
(253) 215-8782 
Meeting ID: 325 789 3484 
 

The Board meets in person at 2957 Birch Street, Bishop, CA 93514. Members of the public will be 
allowed to attend in person or via Zoom. Public comments can be made in person or via Zoom.   
 

Board Member David McCoy Barrett will participate in the meeting via teleconference from the 
following location, in accordance with Government Code § 54953(b): 

Vitosha Blvd 89B 
1463 Sofia, Bulgaria 

 
This teleconference location will be accessible to the public, and the agenda will be posted at this 
location at least 72 hours in advance of the meeting. Members of the public may attend and participate 
from this location. All votes taken during the meeting will be conducted by roll call. 

 
 

1. Call to Order at 5:00 pm 

2. Public Comment: The purpose of public comment is to allow members of the public to address the 

Board of Directors. Public comments shall be received at the beginning of the meeting and are 

limited to three (3) minutes per speaker, with a total time limit of thirty (30) minutes for all public 

comments unless otherwise modified by the Chair. Speaking time may not be granted and/or 

loaned to another individual for purposes of extending available speaking time unless 

Page 3 of 124



Page, 2, Agenda, NIHD Board of Directors Regular Meeting 
 

arrangements have been made in advance for a large group of speakers to have a spokesperson 

speak on their behalf. Comments must be kept brief and non-repetitive. The general Public 

Comment portion of the meeting allows the public to address any item within the jurisdiction of 

the Board of Directors on matters not appearing on the agenda. Public comments on agenda items 

should be made at the time each item is considered.  

 
 

3. Consent Agenda – All matters listed under the consent agenda are considered routine and will be 

enacted by one motion unless any member of the Board wishes to remove an item for discussion.  

a. Approval of minutes for August 20, 2025 Special Board Meeting 

b. Approval of minutes for August 20, 2025 Regular Board Meeting 

c. Approval of Policies and Procedures  

i. Administrator On-Call 

ii. Aerosolized Transmissible Disease Exposure Plan/Respiratory Protection Program 

iii. Capital Budget Process 

iv. Criteria for Storeroom Items  

v. Death and Disposition of Body 

vi. DI - MRI Safety Plan 

vii. Emergency Purchases 

viii. Employee Health NIHD Workforce Onboarding Policy 

ix. Standardized Procedure – Minor Surgical Procedures Policy for the Nurse 

Practitioner or Certified Nurse Midwife 

x. Tuberculosis Exposure Control Plan 

xi. Use of Medical Cannabis for Terminally Ill Patients 

 
 

4. New Business:  

a. Chief Executive Officer Report 

i. Clear Horizons Consulting Report Out – Information Item  

ii. Conflict of Interest – Information Item  

iii. Committee Pilot – Action Item  

iv. Appointment of Committee Alternates – Information Item  

v. Marketing Plan – Information Item  

Page 4 of 124



Page, 3, Agenda, NIHD Board of Directors Regular Meeting 
 

b. Chief Nursing Officer / Chief Operating Officer Report 

i. CNO / COO Department Update – Information Item  

c. Chief of Staff Report, Sam Jeppsen  MD 

i. Medical Staff Initial Appointments 2025-2026 – Action Item 

ii. Medical Staff Reappointments 2025-2026 – Action Item 

iii. Medical Executive Committee Report – Information Item  

d. Governance Committee  

i. Mission, Vision, Values – Information Item  

e. Finance Committee  

i. NIHD Financial Investment Opportunity – Action Item 

ii. Capital Items - FY 25/26 Approval – Action Item  

iii. Financial & Statistical Reports – Action Item 

5. General Information from Board Members - Board will provide this information 

 
 

6. Adjournment 

 

In compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act, if you require special accommodations to participate in a 

District Board meeting, please contact the administration at (760) 873-2838 at least 24 hours prior to the meeting.   

Page 5 of 124



Northern Inyo Healthcare District Board of Directors            August 20, 2025 
Special Meeting  Page 1 of 2 
 
 
CALL TO ORDER Northern Inyo Healthcare District (NIHD) Board Chair Turner called the 

meeting to order at 3:30 pm.  
 

PRESENT Jean Turner, Chair 
Melissa Best-Baker, Vice Chair 
David Lent, Secretary 
Laura Smith, Member at Large 
 
Christian Wallis, Interim Chief Executive Officer 
Allison Partridge, Chief Operations Officer / Chief Nursing Officer 
Alison Murray, Chief Human Resources Officer / Chief Business Development  
     Officer 
Andrea Mossman, Chief Financial Officer  
Samantha Jeppsen, MD, Chief of Staff  
 

ABSENT 
 

David McCoy Barrett, Treasurer 
Adam Hawkins, DO, Chief Medical Officer 
 

TELECONFERENCING Notice has been posted and a quorum participated from locations within the 
jurisdiction.  
 

PUBLIC COMMENT Chair Turner reported that at this time, audience members may speak on any 
items on the agenda that are within the jurisdiction of the Board.  
 

 At the start of public comment, legal counsel clarified that item 5.c. of the 
closed session related to Dr. Loy and invited public comment on that item at 
this time. During public comment, multiple community members addressed the 
Board regarding recent physician disciplinary actions, particularly the 
suspension of Dr. Loy. Several speakers criticized the fairness of the process, 
citing the use of a petition campaign against him, concerns about impartiality 
within the Medical Executive Committee, and the lasting reputational harm to 
his career even if the suspension were lifted. They emphasized that such actions 
could discourage qualified physicians from working at NIHD, noting the recent 
loss of the entire Orthopedics Department and difficulties recruiting new 
providers. Commenters stressed that trust and teamwork are essential in 
medical practice and warned that the hospital’s long-term viability could be 
threatened if physicians feared retaliation or character attacks. Others linked Dr. 
Loy’s suspension to broader issues, including high CEO turnover, ongoing 
fiscal problems, and the loss of other well-regarded doctors. Several called for 
greater transparency and accountability, particularly in the upcoming CEO 
hiring process, urging that candidate information be shared with the community 
and that residency in the area be considered as part of the selection criteria. 
Concerns were also raised about hospital operations, including the turnover of 
primary care physicians and billing delays of up to three years without itemized 
statements. Additional comments highlighted positive personal experiences 
with Dr. Loy, questioned whether proper corrective processes had been 
followed, and warned that continued physician departures could further harm 
patient care. Collectively, the comments urged the Board to strengthen fairness 

Page 6 of 124



Northern Inyo Healthcare District Board of Directors            August 20, 2025 
Special Meeting  Page 2 of 2 
 

and due process for physicians, protect against retaliation, improve 
transparency in governance and leadership decisions, and prioritize the 
recruitment and retention of quality providers. 
 

ADJOURNMENT TO 
CLOSED SESSION  
 

Adjournment to closed session at 3:58 pm 

RETURN TO OPEN 
SESSION 
 

Called back to order at 5:17 pm 
 
Chair Turner stated there were no reportable actions from the closed session. 
 

ADJOURNMENT 
 

Adjournment at 5:17 pm. 

 
 

______________________________ 
Jean Turner 

Northern Inyo Healthcare District  
Chair 

 
 

Attest: ______________________________ 
David Lent 

Northern Inyo Healthcare District  
Secretary  

 

Page 7 of 124



Northern Inyo Healthcare District Board of Directors            August 20, 2025 
Regular Meeting  Page 1 of 14 
 
 
CALL TO ORDER Northern Inyo Healthcare District (NIHD) Board Chair Turner called the 

meeting to order at 5:29 pm.  
 

PRESENT Jean Turner, Chair 
David Lent, Secretary 
Laura Smith, Member at Large 
 
Christian Wallis, Interim Chief Executive Officer 
Allison Partridge, Chief Operations Officer / Chief Nursing Officer 
Alison Murray, Chief Human Resources Officer, Chief Business Development  
     Officer 
Andrea Mossman, Chief Financial Officer  
Samantha Jeppsen, MD, Chief of Staff  
 

ABSENT 
 

Melissa Best-Baker, Vice Chair 
David McCoy Barrett, Treasurer 
Adam Hawkins, DO, Chief Medical Officer 
 

TELECONFERENCING Notice has been posted and a quorum participated from locations within the 
jurisdiction.  
 

PUBLIC COMMENT Chair Turner reported that at this time, audience members may speak on any 
items not on the agenda that are within the jurisdiction of the Board.   
 

 Multiple speakers provided input on issues related to physician retention, 
hospital leadership, and transparency. 

Several physicians stated their support for the Medical Executive Committee 
(MEC), emphasizing that it functions as a fair and representative body, 
reviewing complaints brought forward from various departments and making 
recommendations with patient safety in mind. It was noted that the MEC does 
not initiate complaints, but evaluates them neutrally to maintain quality of care. 

Community members expressed concern over the departure and potential loss 
of multiple physicians, including orthopedic surgeons and ophthalmologists. 
Examples were given of patients now traveling long distances, including 400-
mile round trips, for procedures such as retinal tear treatment, glaucoma laser 
surgery, and macular degeneration injections. Commenters stressed that the loss 
of these services would leave serious gaps in local care, particularly for elderly 
patients and those with urgent needs. Several urged the District to retain 
specialists even if certain service lines are less profitable, noting that rural 
hospitals cannot easily replace this expertise. 

Some speakers stated that personnel matters could have been resolved 
internally through human resources rather than escalating to legal proceedings. 
Questions were raised about the cost of outside attorneys and whether legal 
counsel representing the MEC might contribute to physician turnover. Calls 

Page 8 of 124



Northern Inyo Healthcare District Board of Directors            August 20, 2025 
Regular Meeting  Page 2 of 14 
 

were made for more transparency, including clarification on how community 
members may request agenda items such as physician retention. 

Concerns were also raised regarding leadership. Some urged caution in 
selecting a permanent CEO, given the impact that administrative decisions have 
on physician recruitment and retention. Others expressed support for appointing 
the interim CEO permanently, citing his collaborative work on regional 
partnerships, grant opportunities, and efforts to stabilize services. 

Common themes across comments included: the need to stabilize the medical 
staff, retain orthopedic and ophthalmology services, strengthen transparency in 
Board processes, and ensure strong, consistent leadership to guide the District. 
 

CONSENT AGENDA 
 

Chair Turner called attention to the Consent Agenda.  
 
Appointment of Infection Preventionist was removed from the consent agenda. 
 

Motion to approve the consent agenda: Smith  
2nd: Lent  
Pass: 3-0  

 
PRESENTATION ON 
MEDICAL EXECUTIVE 
COMMITTEE ROLS AND 
RESPONSITILBITIES, 
SHELLEY CARDER, ESQ.  
 

Chair Turner called attention to the Presentation on Medical Executive 
Committee Roles and Responsibilities, Shelley Carder 
Esq.  
 

Attorney Carder provided a comprehensive presentation on the legal and 
regulatory framework governing the Medical Executive Committee and peer 
review processes. She introduced her background, noting over 37 years in law 
with the past 15 years focused on medical staff peer review, and her experience 
representing physicians, MECs, and hospital boards in peer review, corrective 
actions, and appeals. 

Carder explained the “triad” governance structure required by federal and 
California law, accreditation agencies, and hospital bylaws: 

 Board of Directors – establishes long-term goals, provides oversight, 
and holds ultimate accountability for hospital operations and peer 
review decisions. 

 Administration – led by the Chief Executive Officer and senior 
managers, responsible for daily operations. 

 Medical Staff – a self-governing body by law, responsible for clinical 
care, enforcing standards of conduct, and applying standards of care 
through bylaws and peer review processes. 

Carder described the role of the MEC in credentialing and privileging 
physicians, assuring competence and qualifications, and conducting both 
ongoing professional practice evaluation (OPPE) and focused professional 
practice evaluation (FPPE). Peer review is designed to identify and resolve 

Page 9 of 124



Northern Inyo Healthcare District Board of Directors            August 20, 2025 
Regular Meeting  Page 3 of 14 
 

concerns early, often through informal or educational measures, while 
maintaining safe, high-quality care and a respectful workplace. 

Carder highlighted due process protections for practitioners, including notice of 
concerns and an opportunity to respond. She reviewed summary suspension 
procedures, explaining that suspensions may occur only when there is an 
imminent risk to patient safety. In such cases, the MEC must meet promptly to 
determine whether the suspension should be continued, modified, or lifted, and 
the physician has rights to participate in the process. 

Carder outlined the formal hearing process, noting similarities to a court trial 
but with physician peers serving as decision-makers. The MEC presents 
charges and evidence, the physician has the right to counsel and to present a 
defense, and a panel issues findings. Appeals are then directed to the Board of 
Directors, which serves as the appellate body. Appeals are limited to claims of 
procedural errors or insufficient evidence. If further challenged, matters may 
proceed to Superior Court, the Court of Appeal, or the California Supreme 
Court. 

Carder emphasized that confidentiality is critical to peer review integrity, 
protecting both patients and participants and ensuring candid evaluation. 
Violations of confidentiality can undermine litigation protections and patient 
safety. She noted that while community members may not know the details of 
peer review proceedings, California law and hospital bylaws require fair 
processes with checks and balances. 

Carder also distinguished between employment issues handled through Human 
Resources and peer review matters overseen by the MEC. Both processes may 
be confidential, and outcomes are not always public. 

Carder concluded by stressing the importance of cooperation among the Board, 
Administration, and Medical Staff, each respecting their distinct roles while 
working together to maintain safe, high-quality patient care and a collaborative 
workplace. 
 
Public Comment 
A member of the public asked for clarification regarding whether Dr. Loy was 
currently working at the hospital. Staff confirmed that Dr. Van Dream’s first 
working day was August 20, 2025. 
 

CHIEF OF STAFF REPORT  Chair Turner called attention to the Medical Executive Meeting Report.  

Chief of Staff Jeppsen provided a report to the Board. She began by 
acknowledging and thanking community members who attended recent 
meetings to express support for Dr. Loy, noting the importance of community 
connection and trust. She shared that she has served as an emergency 
department physician at Northern Inyo Hospital for six years and assumed the 
role of Chief of Staff in July. Her goals include strengthening communication 

Page 10 of 124



Northern Inyo Healthcare District Board of Directors            August 20, 2025 
Regular Meeting  Page 4 of 14 
 

between the medical staff and the District and enhancing leadership skills 
within the Medical Executive Committee (MEC). 

Jeppsen explained that the MEC is composed of department chiefs elected by 
their peers. Its primary responsibility is to ensure providers are practicing safe 
medicine and maintaining conduct that protects both patients and staff. She 
emphasized that participation in MEC is voluntary, on top of physicians’ 
clinical duties, and reflects a commitment to patient and staff safety as well as 
to the hospital and community. 

She described the MEC’s process for reviewing complaints, which may come 
from staff, patients, or other providers. Each complaint is reviewed thoroughly 
and confidentially. In some circumstances, the MEC or a delegated ad hoc 
committee may open an investigation, conducting extensive interviews and 
reviewing information across departments. Depending on the findings, the 
MEC determines whether to lift, continue, or impose corrective actions, 
including temporary restrictions or suspensions. She stressed that such 
measures are not punitive judgments but are safety precautions taken to protect 
patients and staff. 

Jeppsen acknowledged community interest in greater detail but emphasized that 
California law and hospital bylaws require confidentiality for the protection of 
all involved, including providers. She assured the Board and community that 
decisions are made carefully, in accordance with bylaws, and with the guiding 
principle of patient safety. 

She further noted that these decisions are made by local physicians who work 
together closely and understand the impact on colleagues, which makes the 
process especially weighty. She closed by reiterating that MEC members are 
not only physicians but also neighbors, friends, and members of the 
community, and that every decision is guided by the same commitment to 
safety and trust that they hold for their own families. 

Jeppsen reported that outpatient infusion and pharmacy services had been 
approved and were now operational. She noted continued positive collaboration 
with Mammoth Orthopedic Institute, with orthopedic surgeons from Mammoth 
beginning on July 1 to perform surgeries at Northern Inyo, provide clinic visits, 
and consult in the emergency department. Jeppsen stated the partnership has 
been highly successful and well-received by patients and staff. 

She further reported that the emergency department has begun collecting data 
on patient transfers in order to evaluate service line needs and identify areas for 
improvement. In addition, the perioperative team is working to optimize the 
operating room block schedule to ensure resources are being used as efficiently 
as possible. 
 
Public Comment  
One speaker reflected on a presentation given earlier in the meeting, noting that 
peer review should provide physicians an opportunity to respond and improve. 

Page 11 of 124



Northern Inyo Healthcare District Board of Directors            August 20, 2025 
Regular Meeting  Page 5 of 14 
 

They stated that many in the community could not understand the recent 
decision regarding Dr. Loy and viewed it as unjust. Questions were raised about 
whether Dr. Loy had ever been able to present his case before the Board, 
whether a petition circulated against him created a hostile work environment, 
and whether his suspension truly met the threshold of an imminent risk to 
patient safety. 

Another commenter spoke about hearing conflicting reports over whether the 
physician who filed a complaint against Dr. Loy recused from MEC 
proceedings. They stressed that this was a simple question of fairness and 
transparency, and expressed concern that the lack of clarity had damaged 
community trust. Counsel advised that peer review processes are confidential 
and involve only physician members of the MEC, while another hospital 
representative emphasized that the action had been based on multiple 
complaints, not a single individual. 

A subsequent speaker urged the hospital to restore confidence by improving 
communication with the community. They noted that without official updates, 
the public has been left to rely on rumor and speculation. They suggested that 
the District publish accurate information through local media and also asked 
about the timeline of Dr. Loy’s suspension and whether the employee who filed 
the complaint was also suspended. 

Another commenter spoke more broadly about recent physician departures, 
citing several providers who had left the hospital in the past one to two years. 
They questioned whether these departures were connected and expressed 
concern about what appears to be a pattern of instability within the medical 
staff. 

An additional commenter addressed the new collaboration with Mammoth 
Hospital, recalling earlier attempts at cooperation between the two hospitals 
that had ended in conflict. They expressed strong support for the renewed 
partnership, describing it as logical, cost-effective, and essential for 
strengthening specialty coverage across the region. They emphasized the 
importance of both hospitals working together in a trustworthy manner to avoid 
the disputes that had undermined previous efforts. 

Board counsel reminded attendees that public comment is an opportunity for 
the Board to listen, not to engage in detailed back-and-forth dialogue. MEC 
members present reiterated that actions had been taken in line with bylaws and 
legal requirements, and stressed that decisions were made collectively with 
patient and staff safety as the guiding priority. 

The Chair confirmed that all members of the public who wished to speak were 
given the opportunity to do so. 
 
Motion to approve Medical Staff Initial Appointments 2025-2026 

Motion: Lent 
2nd: Smith  

Page 12 of 124



Northern Inyo Healthcare District Board of Directors            August 20, 2025 
Regular Meeting  Page 6 of 14 
 

Pass: 3-0 
 

Motion to approve Medical Staff Initial Appointments 2025-2026 – Proxy 
Credentialing 

Motion: Smith  
2nd: Lent  
Pass:3-0 
 

Motion to approve Medical Staff Reappointments 2025-2026  
Motion: Lent 
2nd: Smith  
Pass: 3-0 

 
Motion to approve Additional Privileges  

Motion: Smith  
2nd: Lent 
Pass: 3-0 

 
Chief Executive Officer 
Report 
 

Chair Turner called attention to the CEO report. 

Chief Business Development Officer Follow-up  
The Interim CEO provided follow-up on questions from the prior meeting. Staff 
are coordinating with Senator Alvarado-Gil’s office to arrange a meeting during 
the Eastern Sierra Cancer Alliance anniversary event on September 26, 2025, 
with the specific day and time to be confirmed. The hospital is also working 
with the Chamber of Commerce to host a Chamber Mixer onsite in 2026 and to 
provide speakers for Chamber Lunch and Learn events as part of the District’s 
2026 marketing plan. Inyo Associates meetings are expected to resume in 
September. 

On recruitment, the HR team met with the hospital’s social media vendor to 
improve outreach for hard-to-fill positions, including rehabilitation, physical 
therapy, occupational therapy, and speech therapy. A rotating “carousel” 
approach will be used to keep postings updated. Paid social media promotion 
through Instagram, Facebook, and LinkedIn is planned, with implementation 
anticipated within two to three weeks. 

Conflict of Interest 
The CEO recommended postponing discussion of conflict of interest benefits 
until the September Board meeting to allow for full participation. The Board 
concurred with deferring this item. 
 

Finance Committee Chair Turner called attention to Purchasing threshold limits for leaders memo 
and Purchasing and Signature Authority. 

Purchasing Threshold Limits for Leaders 
Staff presented a proposal to revise purchasing thresholds to better align 
authority with budget accountability and improve vendor payment timeliness. 
Current limits ($500 managers; $2,500 directors; $10,000 chiefs; $40,000 CEO) 

Page 13 of 124



Northern Inyo Healthcare District Board of Directors            August 20, 2025 
Regular Meeting  Page 7 of 14 
 

have created approval bottlenecks. Proposed revisions: managers to $3,000 
(aligned with capitalization threshold), directors to $10,000, chiefs to $25,000, 
CEO to remain at $40,000. Three director roles (Pharmacy, Supply Chain, 
Facilities) were initially proposed for a higher $25,000 limit due to the size and 
frequency of their purchases. Staff also recommended consolidating the check-
signing policy into the purchasing policy for clarity, and bringing back the 
separate Emergency Purchasing (AOC after-hours) policy for later Board 
consideration. The proposal was developed collaboratively with directors to 
balance comfort level and operational needs. 

Board discussion focused on (1) the size of the increases—especially for the 
three director roles—(2) internal controls and audit cadence, and (3) short-range 
oversight during year one. Management described monthly reconciliation (with 
the executive team reviewing cost centers and flagging >10% or >$1,000 
variances about three weeks after month-end), the ability to drill down to 
invoices, and weekly spot checks on transactions within the new approval 
bands during a trial period. Management also committed to returning with 
periodic reports that compare results against budget (quarterly or monthly). 

Purchasing and Signature Authority 
Following discussion, the Board approved the purchasing policy revisions with 
an adjustment: the three director positions originally proposed at $25,000 
(Pharmacy, Supply Chain, Facilities) will be set at $10,000—consistent with 
other directors—for an initial period, with monitoring and the option to revisit 
later. The remainder of the policy (managers $3,000; chiefs $25,000; CEO 
$40,000; consolidation of check-signing into the purchasing policy) was 
approved as presented. 

Motion to approve revised thresholds with the adjustment noted: Smith  
2nd: Lent 
Pass: 3-0 

Public Comment 
A member of the public asked whether the proposed $25,000 purchasing 
thresholds for the Pharmacy, Supply Chain, and Facilities directors were based 
on a review of their historical spending. Staff responded that these departments 
routinely make purchases that exceed the $10,000 director limit, which is why a 
higher threshold had been considered.  

 
Appropriations resolutions 25-03  

The CEO introduced the annual appropriations resolution, explaining that each 
year the County requests the District’s appropriations limit so property tax 
amounts can be set in compliance with Proposition 13. Staff, with assistance 
from the County Controller, calculated the limit using state data on population 
and housing price changes. For FY 2025–26, the appropriations limit was 
determined to be $8,306,363. 

Page 14 of 124



Northern Inyo Healthcare District Board of Directors            August 20, 2025 
Regular Meeting  Page 8 of 14 
 

The resolution establishes the District’s annual appropriations limit in 
accordance with Article 13B of the California Constitution. These funds are 
received in the form of property taxes and state appropriations and may be used 
for operating expenses without restriction as to purpose. 

Motion to approve Appropriations resolutions 25-03: Lent  
2nd: Smith  
Pass: 3-0 

 
NIHD Financial Investment Opportunity 

The Interim CEO reviewed the principles of public funds management—safety, 
liquidity, and yield—and confirmed with Eastern Sierra Community Bank that 
District deposits are fully collateralized under California Government Code 
(written confirmation on file). Liquidity needs continue to be met locally; 
however, the current earnings at Eastern Sierra (about 0.5% net of fees) were 
noted as insufficient. 

The Interim CEO proposed placing a portion of surplus cash in a fully 
collateralized public money market account at Five Star Bank, which 
benchmarks its rate monthly to the State’s LAIF (quoted at ~4.258% at the time 
of the meeting). He explained that any allocation would be sized after 
coordination with the CFO on capital needs and potential bond prepayments; 
funds could be moved between operating accounts and the investment account 
to maintain liquidity while improving yield. The CFO agreed to highlight 
interest income in monthly financial statements so the Board can track results. 

Raegan Ballo, Managing Director of Government Banking at Five Star Bank, 
presented details of the proposed account. He confirmed that the account is 
fully collateralized under California Government Code, offers same-day ACH 
transfers at no cost to the District, and provides liquidity similar to a checking 
account. He noted that the rate adjusts monthly in line with the state’s Local 
Agency Investment Fund (LAIF) and emphasized that Five Star Bank manages 
over $850 million in public deposits, all of which must be fully collateralized. 
 
Directors asked clarifying questions regarding the monthly fluctuation of the 
yield rate, potential fees for transfers, the level of risk involved, and how the 
District would monitor and report investment returns. They expressed support 
for exploring opportunities to improve yield while maintaining safety and 
liquidity, but also raised the importance of considering local financial 
institutions before committing funds elsewhere. Several directors voiced a 
preference for exhausting local options to keep investments in the community, 
while recognizing the specialized expertise Five Star Bank offers in managing 
public funds. The Interim CEO committed to contact other local banks and 
credit unions, including El Dorado, to compare products and report back before 
moving forward. 
 

QUALITY COMMITTEE Chair Turner called attention to the MOU – NIHD and Inyo County Health and 
Human Services. 

Page 15 of 124



Northern Inyo Healthcare District Board of Directors            August 20, 2025 
Regular Meeting  Page 9 of 14 
 

Partridge presented a proposed Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) with 
Inyo County Health and Human Services and First Five. She explained that the 
County’s recent Community Health Needs Assessment identified maternal 
mental health as a priority area. As part of the partnership, NIHD would 
contribute by providing meeting space and the expertise of its childbirth 
educators to support a new maternal mental health course. The class would be 
optional, offered every other month, and supplement the District’s existing 
childbirth education program. 

The Board expressed support for the collaboration, recognizing the importance 
of maternal mental health and the value of community partnerships. Public 
comment was invited; one commenter expressed appreciation for these types of 
collaborations. 

Motion to approve the MOU – NIHD and Inyo County Health and 
Human Services: Smith 
2nd: Lent  
Pass: 3-0 

 
Board Resolution 25-02 MOU with Inyo County Health and Human Services 
for use of District meeting space  
 

Motion to approve Board Resolution 25-02 MOU with Inyo County 
Health and Human Services for use of District meeting space: Lent 
2nd: Smith 
Pass: 3-0 

 
The Compliance Officer presented the written compliance report included in the 
Board packet. No oral additions or updates were provided. 
 

APPOINTMENT OF 
ALTERNATE BOARD 
MEMBERS  
 

Chair Turner called attention to the Appointment of alternate board members. 

The Board discussed the potential appointment of alternate members to 
standing committees. It was noted that, with only two board members assigned 
to each committee, absences have occasionally prevented committees from 
achieving quorum, thereby delaying business. The proposed solution would 
designate an alternate for each committee, selected annually, who could attend 
and participate when a primary member is unavailable. 

Board members acknowledged that this approach would help maintain 
continuity of committee work and expressed general agreement with moving 
the proposal forward. 

Public Comment:  
Members of the public asked clarifying questions about how the alternate 
system would function. Concerns were raised about whether alternates would 
be fully informed of committee work, and it was clarified that alternates would 
be drawn from existing board members, not outside individuals. It was also 

Page 16 of 124



Northern Inyo Healthcare District Board of Directors            August 20, 2025 
Regular Meeting  Page 10 of 14 
 

noted that committee reports are shared with the full Board at each meeting, 
ensuring all members remain informed and able to step in if needed. 

 
CHIEF NURSING OFFICER 
/ CHIEF OPERATING 
OFFICER REPORT  
 

Chair Turner called attention to the CNO / COO Report.  
 
Pharmacy Update  

Partridge provided an update on the pharmacy and infusion project. On July 25, 
CDPH conducted inspections of three areas: the inpatient pharmacy, the 
infusion area, and the IV therapy compounding room. The inpatient pharmacy 
and infusion area passed without issue; however, the compounding room was 
found to be drawing too much negative pressure. Adjustments were made to the 
dampers, and by the end of that week the room was holding proper pressure. 

CDPH granted immediate approval to begin using the inpatient pharmacy and 
infusion area, and services in the infusion area began on August 11. Staff have 
responded positively to the new space, noting its quiet, welcoming environment 
for patients. On August 13, the certifying vendor TSS recertified the 
compounding room, with all elements passing except for biological samples 
that remain pending. Once final results are received, documentation will be 
submitted to the state for anticipated approval, which will allow the project to 
be closed. A ribbon-cutting ceremony is planned to mark the completion. 

Additionally, the State Board of Pharmacy conducted its annual inspection on 
August 13, which resulted in no findings. Inspectors expressed enthusiasm 
about the transition to the new facilities, noting the significance of the project’s 
completion for the hospital and community. 
 

CHIEF FINANCIAL 
OFFICER REPORT  
 

Chair Turner called attention to the CFO Report.  
 
Finance Department Update  
 
Purchasing Department 
Lynch, Director of Purchasing, provided an update on current initiatives within 
the Purchasing Department. He highlighted the establishment of a Value 
Analysis Committee, which meets bi-weekly to review products, services, 
capital purchases, and contract renewals to ensure they provide optimal clinical 
value, patient safety, and financial stewardship. The committee also evaluates 
the downstream effects of clinical practice changes on supply chain and 
consumables. 

Lynch reported the implementation of a new capital request form, now 
available on the District intranet. This tool enables standardized data collection 
and aggregation, ensuring requests are reviewed by the appropriate leaders and 
ultimately the executive team. The process feeds into a SmartSheet system that 
provides information on return on investment and total cost of ownership in a 
consistent format, reducing siloed work and supporting informed decision-
making. 

Page 17 of 124



Northern Inyo Healthcare District Board of Directors            August 20, 2025 
Regular Meeting  Page 11 of 14 
 

Patient Access 
DeLeo, Director of Patient Access, presented on the District’s implementation 
of upfront collections, a process launched in January 2025. She explained that 
the initiative required extensive staff training on price estimator tools and 
insurance websites and initially generated community complaints. Education 
efforts and persistence improved understanding, and staff have since adapted 
well. 

DeLeo reported that upfront collections have resulted in a 221% increase over 
the past six months, rising from approximately $52,000 in January to $84,000 
in June. Department-level data showed notable progress, particularly within 
Diagnostic Imaging (DI), where collections at the time of service are now 
routine. She acknowledged that some areas, such as women’s services and 
RHC, reflect lower numbers due to the nature of billing practices (e.g., global 
OB charges). 

She credited the success to staff dedication, with support from leadership and 
collaboration across departments, and emphasized that the new approach aligns 
NIHD with common practices at other facilities. 

Board members congratulated DeLeo and her team, highlighting the strong 
progress made and the clear impact of the change. They praised the presentation 
and recognized the adjustment required by the community, noting that while the 
transition was challenging, it was ultimately necessary and beneficial. 
 
Revenue Cycle  

Lind, Director of Revenue Cycle, provided an update on current initiatives and 
the implementation of JORI. She stated that the revenue cycle team is focused 
on improving efficiency, financial outcomes, and the patient experience. To 
achieve these goals, targeted work groups have been formed to strengthen 
eligibility verification (to reduce denials), streamline prior authorization 
workflows (to minimize delays and frustration), review coding processes (to 
ensure timely and clean claims), and continually evaluate reimbursement 
strategies. Efforts are also being made to improve both internal and external 
communication. 

Lind reported that the JORI implementation is beginning to show positive 
results. In June, the District recorded nearly $11 million in collections, the 
highest monthly total since her tenure began. Net receivables have decreased 
from $25 million to $19 million, reflecting improved processing and 
reimbursement. JORI has already reduced claims denials by 2% through 
eligibility verification and initiated 124 prior authorizations in July. The next 
phase will expand to outpatient prior authorizations, which Lind noted is an 
increasingly critical area as Medicare will begin requiring them in 2026. 

Page 18 of 124



Northern Inyo Healthcare District Board of Directors            August 20, 2025 
Regular Meeting  Page 12 of 14 
 

She acknowledged that the rollout took longer than expected and faced some 
initial challenges, but emphasized that the partnership is now demonstrating 
clear benefits and setting the District up for further improvement. 

Board members expressed appreciation for the progress, noting that earlier 
concerns about JORI’s effectiveness are being addressed as improvements 
become visible. Members supported the thoughtful, phased approach to 
expanding outpatient prior authorizations. 
 
Public Comment 
One commenter noted that outpatient prior authorizations are an important 
issue, citing a recent personal experience. They agreed with the District’s 
decision to address this area proactively. 
 
Controller  

Interim Controller Larry Hooker presented an update on finance department 
projects. He reported significant progress toward resolving two longstanding 
audit findings related to inventory and balance sheet reconciliations. The annual 
inventory count, conducted in April with auditor oversight, was completed 
successfully with strong staff support. Hooker noted that auditors expressed 
confidence in the process, and he is optimistic that the related audit finding will 
be cleared. 

Regarding the balance sheet reconciliation finding, Hooker stated that of 230 
required reconciliations, 219 have been completed (95%). The remaining 
accounts are in process, with documentation scheduled to be provided to 
auditors beginning in September. He emphasized the goal of reaching full 
compliance before the upcoming audit season and acknowledged staff efforts, 
estimating more than 600 hours dedicated in recent months. 

Hooker also updated the Board on several ongoing initiatives: 

 Ludi Implementation: Phase 1, covering contract management and 
physician compensation, is fully operational. Phase 2, addressing 
productivity-based compensation (work RVUs), is scheduled to go live 
by October. 

 Payroll360: Integration of ADP payroll data into the District’s general 
ledger is in testing, designed to reduce manual journal entries. 

 Bank Integration (BAI): Transactions from Eastern Sierra Community 
Bank are being mapped for automated posting into the ledger, with 
additional banks to follow. 

 Operational Improvements: Work is underway to refine month-end 
close processes (targeting 5–7 days) and recruit two open staff positions. 

Board members asked whether the audit findings are expected to be cleared this 
year. Hooker responded that inventory findings appear well on track for 
resolution, and the balance sheet reconciliation issue is also expected to be 
resolved, pending auditor review in November. Members expressed 

Page 19 of 124



Northern Inyo Healthcare District Board of Directors            August 20, 2025 
Regular Meeting  Page 13 of 14 
 

appreciation for the progress made and acknowledged the effort required to 
reach this stage. The CFO also noted that outside auditors have been assisting 
with reconciliations, providing valuable expertise. 
 

 Financial & Statistical Reports 

The CFO presented preliminary, financial and statistical results for the fiscal 
year ending June 30. Inpatient volumes were steady, outpatient surgical 
volumes increased, and several specialty clinics reported growth, though 
orthopedic surgeries declined significantly. Rural Health Clinic visits increased 
11% and Behavioral Health visits increased 12%. 

Financially, the District ended the year with a $16 million operating loss, 
slightly higher than the $15 million budgeted, primarily due to lost orthopedic 
revenue and inventory adjustments. Supplemental funding and a federal 
retention credit offset these losses, resulting in overall income $4.5 million 
better than budget. Reports now include corrective action plans to address 
performance shortfalls. 
 
Public Comment: 
One question asked whether the new orthopedics arrangement required NIHD 
guarantees; the CFO clarified the contract is 100% productivity-based (paid 
per patient/case only). 

Motion to accept the Financial and Statistical Reports: Smith 
2nd: Lent 
Pass: 3-0 

 
GENERAL INFORMATION 
FROM BOARD MEMBERS 
 

Director reported that Northern Mono County and the Bridgeport Tribe had 
recently reached an agreement to move forward with building a clinic in the 
northern part of the county. The project will involve collaboration with Toiyabe 
and Mono County. 

Board members expressed support for increased collaboration across frontier 
and rural communities, emphasizing that working together will benefit NIHD as 
well as surrounding areas. 
 

PUBLIC COMMENT ON 
CLOSED SESSION  
 

Chair Turner asked for public comment on closed session items.  
 
Public Comment:  
Will the Board have a report out at the end of closed session regarding the 
CEO? The board was unsure if they would have a report out.  
 

ADJOURNMENT TO 
CLOSED SESSION  
 

Adjournment to closed session at 9:19 pm.  

RETURN TO OPEN 
SESSION 
 

Called back to order at 9:49 pm.  
 
Chair Turner stated there were no reportable actions from the closed session. 

Page 20 of 124



Northern Inyo Healthcare District Board of Directors            August 20, 2025 
Regular Meeting  Page 14 of 14 
 

 
ADJOURNMENT 
 

Adjournment at 9:50 pm. 

 
 

______________________________ 
Jean Turner 

Northern Inyo Healthcare District  
Chair 

 
 

Attest: ______________________________ 
David Lent 

Northern Inyo Healthcare District 
Secretary  

 

Page 21 of 124



 

Page 1 of 2 
Administrator-On-Call Policy 

 

NORTHERN INYO HEALTHCARE DISTRICT 

NON-CLINICAL POLICY 

 

 

 

Title:  Administrator-On-Call Policy  

Owner:  Chief Executive Officer Department: Administration 

Scope:  

Date Last Modified: 08/29/2025 Last Review Date: No Review Date Version: 3 

Final Approval by: NIHD Board of Directors  Original Approval Date: 9/16/2020 

 

PURPOSE:  

Ensure that an authorized and trained leader of NIHD is always available after regular business hours (i.e. 

nights, weekends and holidays) to help coordinate NIH’s response during routine and emergency situations. 

During off hours, the Administrator-On-Call (AOC) is the appointed senior voice for the entire facility. 

POLICY:  

1. The Chief Executive Officer, who acts in this capacity during normal business hours, will rotate 

responsibility among the senior leadership team or other person designated by the CEO.  

 

2. The monthly listing of the AOC shall be posted on the NIHD intranet and will be accessible to all units, 

department heads and the switchboard. 

 

3. In accordance with schedules developed by administration, there shall be an AOC twenty-four (24) 

hours a day, seven (7) days a week. It shall be the responsibility of the scheduled AOC to notify CEO’ 

Executive Assistant of any changes in the schedule.  Conflicts in the schedule will be resolved through 

the executive team. 

 

4. AOC shall remain available by telephone at all times during their time on duty and shall coordinate an 

onsite leadership response if needed. 

 

5. During evenings, nights, major holidays and weekends, the on-site designated administrator for the 

Hospital is the Nursing Department’s House Supervisor. This individual should be contacted first if 

emergency problems/questions or general questions of patient care and administration should arise. 

 

6. The AOC is available to assist House Supervisors should the need arise. The AOC must be notified in 

the event of routine and or more significant  events such as the following: 

a. Hospital-wide or facility-wide emergency conditions. 

b. Emergency situations outside the facility which might have an impact on NIHD facilities. 

c. Emergency of unusual conditions on NIHD facilities wherein the health and welfare of patients, 

employees or visitors could be in question such as significant acts of violence, significant staffing 

problems, and safety /care issues related to the physical facilities. 

Page 22 of 124



 

Page 2 of 2 
Administrator-On-Call Policy 

d. Situations in which patient refuses to consent to life-sustaining treatment (i.e. refusal of blood 

products, etc…) 

e. Sentinel events 

f. Situations where there is inadequate staffing or a high census, pending surge plan particularly in the 

ICU and ED and there are no available beds or sufficient nursing staff AND the House Supervisor is 

unable to resolve the situation.  Decision to not accept new admissions in specific units must be 

discussed with the AOC. 

g. Public relations issues that may have an adverse effect on NIHD and related media requests. 

 

7. In most cases, the AOC will act as the Incident Commander and may provide support and assistance in 

coordination and communication. The AOC should assess the urgency of the response and relieve the 

House Supervisor or other person acting as initial Incident Commander, when needed. 

 

8. All critical, non-routine actions taken by the AOC shall be communicated to the appropriate Chief and 

CEO on the next regular business day or immediately at the AOC’s discretion. The Compliance Officer 

and other appropriate parties will be notified of any sentinel event or other such critical incidents; as 

needed. 

REFERENCES: 

1. Joint Commission Resources. Guide to Emergency Management Planning in Health Care. Oakbrook 

Terrace, IL: Joint Commission Resources, 2019. Print. 

 

CROSS REFERENCE P&P: 

1. Nursing Administrative Coverage 

 

Supersedes: v.2 Administrator-On-Call Policy 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 23 of 124



 

1 
Aerosolized Transmissible Disease Exposure Plan/Respiratory Protection Program 

NORTHERN INYO HEALTHCARE DISTRICT 

ANNUAL PLAN 
 
 
 

Title:  Aerosolized Transmissible Disease Exposure Plan/Respiratory Protection Program 
Owner: Manager Employee Health & 
Infection Control 

Department: Infection Prevention 

Scope:  District Wide   
Date Last Modified: 
08/28/2025 

Last Review Date: No 
Review Date 07/18/2024 

Version: 11 

Final Approval by: NIHD Board of Directors  Original Approval Date:  
 

PURPOSE:  
Title 8, California Code of Regulations, General Industry Safety Orders, Section 5199 (CCR, GSO, Title 8, 
5199) requires that employers’ procedures for complying with the regulation be documented in writing and 
made available to all NIHD workforce  for review and training.  
 
PLAN: 
Northern Inyo Healthcare District (NIHD) will provide a safe and healthy workplace environment by 
implementing an effective Aerosolized Transmissible Diseases (ATD) Exposure Control Plan. This ATD 
Exposure plan applies to the control of exposures to ATD’s for high-risk workforce that may have a potential to 
an ATD exposure due to work environment and job tasks.  This plan focuses on safe work practices, personal 
protective equipment (PPE), engineering and administrative controls, and vaccinations of employees. 
 
OVERVIEW: 
The goal of the respiratory protection program for Aerosolized Transmissible Disease (ATD) is to eliminate or 
minimize health care worker (HCW) exposure to any respiratory aerosol transmissible diseases, which are 
particles of respiratory secretions from the nose or mouth. Some diseases that are transmitted by respiratory 
aerosols may or may not manifest primarily with respiratory symptoms. Although there are many infectious 
diseases that may be transmitted by respiratory aerosols, this standard is meant to address diseases that cause 
significant morbidity and mortality and represent a significant threat to HCWs and to the health of the 
community. Examples of diseases for Airborne and Droplet are located within the attachments titled: Section 
5199, Appendix A_ Aerosol Transmissible Diseases/Pathogens: Airborne and Droplet 

 
 
POLICY: 
NIHD will establish, implement, and maintain an effective written ATD Exposure Control Plan as specified by 
Cal/OSHA’s State Standard, Title 8, and Chapter 4. This plan will be followed by all Northern Inyo Healthcare 
District HCWs and others working within the facility who may be potentially exposed to respiratory aerosol 
transmissible disease. 
 
AEROSOLIZED TRANSMISSIBLE DISEASES EXPOSURE CONTROL PLAN:  
The Manager of Infection Prevention/Employee Health will be responsible for administering this plan and 
maintenance of infection control procedures to control the risk of transmission of ATDs. The Employee Health 
Nurse and the Infection Preventionist will do this with the collaboration of Maintenance leadership, Nursing 
leadership, Environmental Services Manager, Manager of Cardiopulmonary, Director of Diagnostic Services 
and Safety, Laboratory Manager. The plan will be reviewed annually or when revised by the program 

Page 24 of 124



 

2 
Aerosolized Transmissible Disease Exposure Plan/Respiratory Protection Program 

administrator, and by workforce in their respective work areas. The changes and review will be documented. 
The Medical Laboratory Director will review annually the Biosafety Plan and potential Aerosolized 
Transmissible Disease organisms.  
 

EXPOSURE RISK PERSONNEL THAT REQUIRE FIT TESTING - Annually 
 Nursing Department (RNs, LVNs, CNAs, 
Medical  Office Assistants)  Case Managers, 
House Supervisors- RNs 

Rehabilitation Department 

Environmental Services/Talent Pool Cardiopulmonary/EKG/ECHO  
 Providers:  

 Emergency Department 
 Anesthesiologists 
 Surgeons 
 Pediatricians 
 Hospitalists 
 Same Day Clinic Providers  

 

Radiology Department except Radiologists 

Laboratory Clinical Staff Social Services  
Maintenance/Plant Operations  Students (if there is potential for patient 

contact with airborne isolation patients) 
 
 
EXPOSURE RISK PERSONNEL THAT REQUIRE FIT TESTING – Every Two Years. NIHD 
workforce member can elect to be fit tested annually.  
 
Patient Access, and Insurance Verifier Individuals providing interpreting services in patient 

care areas 
Dieticians & Diet Clerks Health Information Management (Medical Records) 
Pharmacy  Director of Facilities  
Security Radiologists and Clinic Providers except Same Day 

Clinic (see annual)  
 
FIT Test (N95 mask/PAPR) COMPLIANCE:  

 Fit testing will be completed upon hire, and annually, or every two years based on exposure risk.  

 Additional fit testing: If workforce member reports, or the employer, physician or other licensed 
healthcare professional, supervisor, or program administrator makes visual observations of changes in 
the workforce members physical condition that could affect respirator fit. Such conditions include, but 
are not limited to, facial scarring, facial hair, dental changes, cosmetic surgery, or a significant change in 
body weight. 

 If, after passing a fit test, the workforce member subsequently notifies the employer, program 
administrator, supervisor, or physician or other licensed healthcare professional that the fit of the 
respirator is unacceptable, the workforce member shall be given a reasonable opportunity to select a 
different respirator face piece and to be retested. 

 Fit testing will be completed during the department’s scheduled time. Note: The new or transferring 
workforce member will be re-fit tested during their assigned time; example ICU nurse is hired or 
transferred in January he/she will be fit tested upon hire and re-fit tested again in scheduled timeframe.  

Page 25 of 124



 

3 
Aerosolized Transmissible Disease Exposure Plan/Respiratory Protection Program 

 Failure to be fit tested by the last day of your departments assigned time will result in the inability to 
work the first day of the following assigned time until you have been fit tested.  

 Workforce members that are on leave of absence or vacation during the scheduled time of their 
department fit testing must be completed within five days of their return to work.   

 Notification of annual department fit testing will occur a month prior via email.  
 
DEFINITIONS: See Attachments 
 
HIGH HAZARD PROCEDURES: 
On patients suspected or known to be infected with an illness or pathogen requiring Airborne Precautions, the 
following procedures are considered high hazard procedures for risk of exposure to Aerosolized Transmissible 
Disease, requiring the placement of the patient in an AIIR room if possible, and must use Personal Protective 
Equipment (PPE) during the procedure. At minimum an N-95 mask or Purified Air Powered Respirator (PAPR) 
and eye protection is indicated. Staff is expected to follow recommendations for additional PPE as indicated for 
specific disease processes under transmission-based precautions this list includes, but is not limited to: 

1. Sputum Induction/ 
2. Open suctioning of airways 
3. Endotracheal intubation and extubation 
4. Tracheostomy procedures (insertion or removal) 
5. Bronchoscopy 
6. Aerosolized administration of medications when patient is in Airborne Isolation. It is at the discretion of 

the workforce member to wear N95 if patient on droplet precautions and receiving aerosolized 
medications.  

7. Laboratory procedures that may aerosolize pathogens refer to Laboratory Biosafety Plan 
8. Obtaining a nasal swab or throat culture with person known or suspected airborne disease.  

Note:  
Bronchoscopy and other similar high hazard procedures will be done in an Airborne Infection Isolation Room 
(AIIR). . 
Lesser procedures, like obtaining a nasal swab will be done with a minimally a surgical mask or N-95 mask if 
atypical respiratory illness such as novel avian flu is suspected, face shield, gloves must be worn. A gown is 
donned if patient unable has poor respiratory etiquette and/or poor hand hygiene. Persons not performing the 
procedures are to be excluded from the area. 
Exception: Where no AIIR or area is available and the treating physician determines that it would be 
detrimental to the patient's condition to delay performing the procedure, high hazard procedures may be 
conducted in other areas. In that case, workforce members working in the room or area where the procedure is 
performed shall use respiratory protection and shall use all necessary personal protective equipment. 
NOTE:  NIHD has PAPRs available - see policy for use and maintenance. 
 
NIHD WORK FORCE IMMUNIZATIONS:  
NIHD will comply with the “Mandatory Vaccination Recommendations for Susceptible Health  
Care Workers” as listed in Appendix E below of the Cal/OSHA ATD Standard.  
Employee Health, during the pre-employment physical process, obtains titers for the illnesses listed below- if 
the prospective workforce member does not have documented proof of the vaccinations. Vaccinations are 
provided free of charge when indicated. Employee Health will also provide current Health Care Workers titers 
and vaccines to meet current standards declinations must be signed by the HCW in lieu of the vaccination after 
education on the vaccine and NIHD’s commitment to safety for the patients, the HCW, and his or her family. 
 
Appendix: Aerosol Transmissible Disease Vaccination Recommendations for Susceptible Health Care 
Workers (Mandatory)  

Page 26 of 124



 

4 
Aerosolized Transmissible Disease Exposure Plan/Respiratory Protection Program 

 
 
 
 

 
 

  

 
Source: California Department of Public Health, Immunization Branch. Immunity should be determined in 
consultation with CDC and CDPH for current year.  
 
WORK PRACTICE CONTROLS: 
 
SOURCE CONTROL MEASURES: Measures to prevent patients, staff, or visitors from spreading 
illness inside of the hospital. 
 
On Arrival to the Hospital: 

1. Hand hygiene stations and Respiratory Hygiene/Cough Etiquette are at every entrance to the hospital 
with signs encouraging their use.  

2. If indicated, warning/education signs may also be placed at entrances explaining any special concerns or 
limitations regarding entrance to the hospital e.g. with outbreak of influenza. 

3. Patients, visitors, and caregivers will be instructed on Respiratory Hygiene/ Cough Etiquette measures 
by the hospital staff, with easy access to all the necessary sanitation supplies. 

a. Cover mouth and nose for coughs and sneezes with Kleenex, linen, or elbow. 
b. To use the available surgical masks as soon as possible if actively coughing. 
c. To perform hand hygiene frequently and after handling their secretions.  
d. To dispose of contaminated tissues, napkins, linens into “no-touch” receptacles.  

4. Entry may be denied to visitors if they already know they have suspected or confirmed influenza, 
another known serious respiratory illness, tuberculosis, and/or possibly others on a case by case basis 
except in regards to Emergency Medical Treatment and Labor Act (EMTALA) related to pregnancy or 
emergency care. 

5. Elective procedures may also be postponed for patients with suspected or confirmed influenza or another 
known serious respiratory illness until they are no longer infectious.  

6. NIHD prohibits misters for human comfort (e.g. patio misters) anywhere on the campus this includes 
employee break areas.  

On arrival to the Emergency Department (ED) Area: 

Vaccine Schedule Titer 
Influenza One dose 

annually 
No 

Measles Two doses Or immunity via 
titer 

Mumps Two doses Or immunity via 
titer 

Rubella One dose Or immunity via 
titer 

Tetanus, Diphtheria, and 
Acellular Pertussis (Tdap) 

Every 10 year 
booster  

No 

Varicella-zoster (VZV) Two doses Or immunity via 
tier or 

documentation of 
history 

Page 27 of 124



 

5 
Aerosolized Transmissible Disease Exposure Plan/Respiratory Protection Program 

1. Same entry procedures as above. Hand hygiene station is at the Emergency Department entrance. 
2. The Emergency Department personnel will have the patients mask immediately if the complaint is an 

Influenza-like-Illness (ILI) or cough, or suspected airborne disease. 
3. A separate waiting room was developed so that those with ILI and potential airborne disease can 

potentially be segregated from those without.  
4. Respiratory like illness patients are isolated to an Emergency Department single room or kept masked 

and physically located > 6 feet from other patients. Friends and family are instructed in the use of 
surgical masks and any other necessary PPE being used. They are encouraged to follow instructions and 
to ask for clarification, so that they have the understanding of why the isolation procedures are used. 

5. Person with suspected or confirmed airborne disease will be placed in private room with door closed. 
Staff entering room will don a N95 mask or PAPR 

6. Appropriate isolation signage will be posted outside the room visible to hospital staff and visitors. 
On Arrival to another Hospital Unit: 

1. Same entry procedures as above with access to hand hygiene stations and necessary sanitation supplies. 
2. House Supervisor will report any patient placed in transmission based-precautions via the House 

Supervisor end of shift 12-hour report. 
3. Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome has its own assessment/screening form that is found on the hospital 

Intranet.  
4. Source patients from any department, including the Emergency Department, are put into single rooms 

when available and the door is closed. Airborne precautions will be initiated, when appropriate. Visitors 
are instructed in the use of PPE and restricted to those most crucial to the patient’s well-being.  

Room Placement: 
Airborne infection isolation rooms units will be used for patients who are suspected of having airborne 
transmissible disease, e.g. TB, SARS, Smallpox, Avian Flu, and Pneumonic Plague. 
Airborne isolation rooms are private rooms that have monitored negative air pressure in relation to the exterior 
surrounding areas, so that air does not come out from under the door because the pressure outside the door is > 
than inside the room. See the section under Engineering Controls related to Air Exchanges per hour and other 
specifics. Our current best options for any patient include: 
 

 Option 1:  Room 5 on the Acute/Subacute and ICU RM 1 
 Option 2:  If no Airborne Infection Isolation Room available put patient in surgical mask, keep door 

closed, staff and visitors to wear a N95 or PAPR.  
 The RHC and Pediatric clinic negative pressure room.  

 
Source Patient Control: 

1. The patient will remain in the room, unless transport is necessary for a diagnostic procedure. The patient 
will be kept masked with a surgical mask and the transport team will wear a fit-tested N-95 mask. 

2. Information about patients who have or may have an ATD is shared with appropriate personnel before 
transferring or transporting the patient to other departments or other facilities using SBAR,  or Ticket to 
Ride, transfer form or Handoff report. 

3. Personal Protective Equipment and Isolation Precautions implemented by staff may be discontinued 
based on documented, negative laboratory studies. This should be decided with input from any one or 
more of the following:  Infection Preventionist or designee, Infection Control Medical Staff 
Chairperson, the unit’s Nursing leadership and the patient’s physician, Inyo County Health Officer, or 
California State Health Department official.  

Page 28 of 124



 

6 
Aerosolized Transmissible Disease Exposure Plan/Respiratory Protection Program 

4. Visitors should be limited to only family or friends crucial to the patient’s well-being. 
5. Patient care equipment: 

a. Equipment (e.g. designated computer, vital sign equipment, stethoscopes, and commodes) should be 
kept in the patient’s room. Use disposable equipment as much as possible.  

b. Any reusable equipment has to be cleaned per hospital protocol before re-use. 
      6.  Linens, waste, and room cleaning as per policy. 
    
Precautions Required for SARS, Avian, And Other Serious Airborne Illnesses: 

1. Standard  
2. Airborne and Droplet 
3. Contact 

 
PPE Required When Entering an Airborne Isolation Room: 

1. Fit-tested N-95 Mask or PAPR 
2. Face shields or Eye Protectors 
3. Disposable Gowns: For substantial contact with the patient or environmental surfaces. 
4. Gloves 

 
Reporting the Illness:  
NIHD will follow federal, state, local guidelines for reporting airborne diseases.  The Confidential Morbidity 
Report form is on the NIHD Intranet. The back of the form tells you by which method and how quickly to 
report each reportable illness. For example, with SARS you are to call Inyo County Health Department 
immediately.  
 
Procedure If NIHD Has Insufficient Isolation Rooms:   
If the patient needs an airborne isolation room and there is not one available, the patient should be a transfer to 
another facility in a timely manner. 

1. Transfers to other facilities: Transfer should occur within 5 hours of identification, unless the initial 
encounter with patient occurs between 3:30pm and 7:00 am, in which case the patient must be 
transferred by 11:00 am. If the provider contacts the local health officer and determines that no facility is 
available to provide Airborne Infection Isolation (AII), then the patient may remain at NIHD, the 
provider must continue to contact the local health officer and other facilities every 24 hours to attempt 
the transfer, and at least every 24 hours thereafter, one of the following: 
a. There is no room or area available within that jurisdiction. 
b. Reasonable efforts have been made to contact establishments outside of that jurisdiction.  
c. Applicable measures recommended by the local health officer and the Physician or other licensed 

health care professional  
d. Patients exhibiting flu like symptoms during flu season or suspected or confirmed COVID-19 do not 

require referral and transfer.  
 
Exception to above:  

1. The patient need not be transferred if the treating physician determines that the transfer would be 
detrimental to the patient’s condition. In that case, the HCW will use all necessary respiratory 

Page 29 of 124



 

7 
Aerosolized Transmissible Disease Exposure Plan/Respiratory Protection Program 

protection when entering the patient’s room. The patient’s condition has to be reviewed at least every 
24 hours. Once transfer is safe, then it should still occur in the timeframe above.  

2. Where it is not feasible to provide Airborne Infection isolation rooms or areas to individuals suspected 
or confirmed to be infected with or carriers of novel (ex: Flu, COVID-19) or unknown ATPs, the 
employer shall provide other effective control measures to reduce the risk of transmission to HCWs, 
which shall include the use of respiratory protection in accordance with subsection (g) and Section 
5144, Respiratory Protection of these orders. 

HCW Control Measures: 
1. Keeping personnel at home while they are ill to reduce the risk of spreading influenza or other airborne 

illnesses is essential  
2. HCW TB screening every two years and  TB symptom questionnaire records will be kept in Employee 

Health. HCW’s identified to have latent TB will complete annual questionnaire. 
3. Continuing monitoring of hand hygiene and PPE compliance. 
4. Continue the yearly influenza vaccination policy, and required vaccines. (Covered under Vaccination 

Section) 
5. Monitor any HCW with an airborne exposure. (Covered under Exposure Evaluation Section) 
6. Annual education on Aerosolized Transmissible Disease for HCW that have exposure risk.  
7.  HCW’s are instructed on respiratory illness symptoms and how to report. 
8. HCW’s who exhibit COVID-19 symptoms and are on a Return to Work or Exposure Pathway will be 

offered testing at no cost. 
 

PATIENT SCREENING: Patients will be screened during the triage period in the Emergency Department 
during the admission assessment for inpatients, as appropriate, to evaluate for any symptoms of Aerosolized 
Transmissible Disease infections. Any persons entering the District will have passive screening for respiratory 
illnesses. 
 

1. For tuberculosis this would include: 
a. Cough for more than 3 weeks not explained by non-infectious conditions 
b. Hemoptysis 
c. Unexplained significant weight loss 
d. Fatigue 
e. Night sweats 
f. Known exposure to a TB patient 
g. Temporary or permanent residence of ≥1 month in a country with a high TB rate 

 
2. For  Respiratory illnesses (COVID-19, FLU, RSV) signs and symptoms would include: 

a. Fever > 100 F with cough and/or sore throat and headache; 
b. Body aches, nasal congestion or discharge, chills and fatigue; 
c. Nausea, vomiting, diarrhea or other GI symptoms may also be present 

 
3. Patient statement that they have an aerosol or droplet transmissible respiratory disease.  

 
CLEANING AND DISINFECTION: 

1. Routine cleaning and disinfection strategies used during influenza season can be applied to the 
environmental management of Influenza  

2. Dedicated disposable equipment is to be used whenever possible. 

Page 30 of 124



 

8 
Aerosolized Transmissible Disease Exposure Plan/Respiratory Protection Program 

3. Non-disposable equipment is to be cleaned and disinfected according to established agency policies - 
“Infectious and Noninfectious Waste Disposal Procedure.” 

4. Management of laundry, utensils, and medical waste should also be performed in accordance with 
procedures followed for seasonal influenza. 

 
PERSONAL PROTECTIVE EQUIPMENT/RESPIRATORY PROTECTION  

1. Adherence to Standard Precautions and Transmission Based Precautions, as appropriate for the patient’s 
disease status, is mandatory for all NIHD workforce and departments.  

2. Droplet Precautions: Permit the use of surgical masks rather than respiratory protection, i.e., use of 
respirators. Recognizing that surgical masks do not provide protection against inhalation of airborne 
infectious aerosols, NIHD allows health care personnel to use N-95 masks should they prefer that level 
of protection. 

3. Clinical staff who are assigned to patients with suspected or confirmed infectious Pulmonary TB, or 
other aerosol transmissible diseases requiring use of respirator will be provided and fitted with a 
National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health approved (at least N95) Respirator Mask for 
individual, personal protection prior to providing care. Trained personnel will instruct the clinical staff 
members on proper respirator use and fit-check, in accordance with the manufacturer's instructions and 
guidelines. 

a. Every attempt will be made to have an adequate supply of all types of N-95 masks we currently 
use for fit tests. 

b. The standard is to use a mask if needed and discard it after use. They should be discarded after 
each patient encounter.  EXCEPTION: When caring for airborne patients without mixing and 
during times of shortage NIHD will follow regulatory guidelines for extended and re-use of 
masks.  

c. The Purchasing Department is responsible for monitoring mask numbers and will work in 
conjunction with the Infection Preventionist to ensure mask availability.   

4. Clinical staff that cannot be adequately fitted with the National Institute for Occupational Safety and 
Health(NIOSH) approved respirators will not be assigned to these patients, unless they have been 
trained to use the PAPR and a PAPR is available. 

5. Personnel with histories of respiratory problems/compromise or those with known lack of immunity to 
the organism (e.g.: chickenpox) should not be assigned to these patients. 

6. Unprotected HCW’s should be prevented from entering areas where aerosol generation procedures were 
performed until the required clearance time has elapsed. 

7. When respirators are necessary to protect the HCW from other hazards, including the uncontrolled 
release of microbiological spores or exposure to chemical or radiologic agents, respirator selection shall 
be made in accordance with the anticipated risk.  

8. In summary, NIHD provides, and ensures that HCW’s  use, a fit-tested N-95 respirator or PAPR when:: 
a. Enters an Airborne infection isolation room or area or an Airborne infection isolation area in use 

for Airborne Infection Isolation; 
b. Present during the performance of procedures or services for an Airborne infectious disease case 

or suspected case;  
c. Takes part in aerosol generating procedures on patient suspected or known to be infected with an 

illness or pathogen requiring airborne precautions such as sputum induction, bronchoscopy, open 
suctioning, CPR, intubation or extubation, Pulmonary function testing, collection of nasal 
pharyngeal lab specimens.  

d. Repairs, replaces, or maintains air systems or equipment that may contain or generate 
aerosolized pathogens;  

e. Is working in an area occupied by an airborne infectious disease case or suspected case, during 
decontamination procedures after the person has left the area and as required.  

Page 31 of 124



 

9 
Aerosolized Transmissible Disease Exposure Plan/Respiratory Protection Program 

f. Is performing a task for which the Biosafety Plan or Exposure Control Plan requires the use of 
respirators; or  

g. Transports an Airborne infectious disease case or suspected case within the facility or in an 
enclosed vehicle (e.g., van, car, ambulance or Air transport when the patient is not masked.  

9. Medical Evaluation for Fit Testing:  
a. HCWs that meet fit testing requirements must complete OSHA Respirator Medical Evaluation 

Questionnaire upon hire and if there are any medical changes. This is done to determine the 
ability to use a respirator before the HCW is fit tested or required to use the respirator. This form 
is the OSHA approved form for respirator fit testing.  

b. The questionnaire is provided during the HCW physical and or to the contracted service and sent 
to Employee Health.  

c. The record is stored in the HCW confidential employee health records.  
d. After the medical evaluation, the HCW can have the fit test scheduled. 

 
10. Fit Testing: “N95 Mask Fit Testing Using the Portacount Pro Policy”  

a. The fit tests are performed on the same size, make, model and style of respirator, as the HCW 
will use. When fit testing single use respirators, a new respirator shall be used for each HCW.  

b. The employer shall ensure that each HCW who is assigned to use a filtering face piece or other 
tight-fitting respirator passes a fit test:  

1. At the time of initial fitting;  
2. When a different size, make, model or style of respirator is used; and  
3. At least annually or biannual thereafter per exposure risk (see table above).  

c. NIHD requires an additional fit test when the HCW reports, or the employer, physician or other 
licensed health care professional, supervisor, or program administrator makes visual observations 
of changes in the HCWs physical condition that could affect respirator fit. Such conditions 
include, but are not limited to, facial scarring, dental changes, cosmetic surgery, or an obvious 
change in body weight.  

d. If, after passing a fit test, the HCW subsequently notifies the employer, program administrator, 
supervisor, or Physician or other licensed health care professional that the fit of the respirator is 
unacceptable, the HCW  shall be given a reasonable opportunity to select a different respirator 
face piece and to be retested.  

e. NIHD will ensure that each respirator user is provided with initial and annual training with one 
or more of the below options:   

 During annual fit testing 
 Hands-on  

11.  Hands-on training will be provided for persons using a PAPR. 
12. Qualitative Fit test will be performed, in place of the quantitative fit test, in an emergency situation 

when N95 mask supply is in short supply. If Porta Count machine unavailable.  
 
MEDICAL SERVICES 

1. NIHD provides any employee with occupational exposure medical services for tuberculosis and other 
ATDs, and infection with Aerosol transmissible pathogen and Aerosol transmissible pathogen -- 
laboratory, in accordance with applicable public health guidelines, for the type of work setting and 
disease. Contracted staff will be followed in the Emergency Department under their worker’s 
compensation. NIHD also acts as the evaluating health care professional through our Emergency 
Department. Following an exposure incident, the HCW may request follow-up medical care from 
another health care provider. When this occurs, NIHD will ensure that the HCW is aware that  a medical 
follow-up is arranged from a Physician or other licensed health care professional other than through our 
Emergency Department.  

Page 32 of 124



 

10 
Aerosolized Transmissible Disease Exposure Plan/Respiratory Protection Program 

2. Medical services, including vaccinations, tests, examinations, evaluations, determinations, procedures, 
and medical management and follow-up, shall be:  
a. Performed by or under the supervision of the Emergency Room Physician or designee. 
b. Employee Health Department 
c. Provided according to applicable public health guidelines; and  
d. Provided in a manner that ensure the confidentiality of HCW and patients. Test results and other 

information regarding exposure incidents and TB conversions shall be provided without providing 
the name of the source individual.  

3. If workforce member has a conversion, he/she will follow-up with a care provider. All diagnostic tests 
and questionnaires will be documented in Employee Health chart.  

  
EXPOSURE EVALUATION AND FOLLOW-UP 
1. A health care provider or the employer of a health care provider who determines that a HCW, patient or 

visitor, is a reportable aerosol transmissible disease case or suspected case shall report, or ensure that the 
health care provider reports, the case to the local health officer, in accordance with Title 17, with the 
exception of COVID-19.  

2. Any healthcare worker who has unprotected direct contact with an airborne illness must report the exposure 
to Employee Health, or Infection Prevention team as soon as possible, either directly or with the assistance 
of the unit director/manager or House supervisor. The Employee Health Nurse, Infection Preventionist, will 
complete an investigation and determine risk and follow-up recommendations. It is critical to report 
exposures immediately when the source is a known life-threatening illness, such as, COVID-19 SARS, 
Avian flu, Smallpox, etc.   

3. An Exposure Incident: Significant exposure- exposure to a source of Aerosolized Transmissible Pathogens 
in which the circumstances make disease transmission sufficiently likely that the HCW requires further 
evaluation by a physician or other physician or other licensed health care provider. The likelihood of 
transmission is determined by: 

a. Exposure scenario including distance, time, PPE used 
b. Specific pathogen 
c. Extent of  source person infectivity 
d. Susceptibility of the host (vaccination status is one component)-  
e. Refer for a medical evaluation if the susceptibility is unknown. 

4. In addition to the report required, NIHD’s Infection Preventionist and/or Employee Health team shall, to 
the extent that the information is available: 

5.  
a. Staff member to complete Unusual Occurrence Report (UOR)  
b. Decide what the affected HCW needs to receive effective medical intervention to prevent disease or 

mitigate the disease course. 
c. Instruct the HCW to monitor for disease symptoms for the duration determined by  federal, state or 

local guidelines. 
d. If a cough or fever develops; the HCW should seek medical evaluation immediately and notify the 

Infection Control nurse and department leader. 
e. Assess whether other agencies may be affected. There is an Aerosolized Transmissible Disease 

notification form to be filled out in the Emergency Department to help track HCW’s who may have 
been exposed.  

f. Initiate a prompt investigation to identify exposed employees. Title 17 and other regulatory 
requirements determine notification to federal, state and local authorities. The notification shall 
include the date, time, and nature of the potential exposure, and provide any other information that is 
necessary for the other employer(s) to evaluate the potential exposure of his or her employees. The 
notifying NIHD provider or Infection Preventionist shall not reveal the identity of the source patient 
to the other employers unless the patient or employee consents to the disclosure.  

Page 33 of 124



 

11 
Aerosolized Transmissible Disease Exposure Plan/Respiratory Protection Program 

 
 NOTE 1: These potentially exposed HCW’s  may include, but are not limited to, paramedics, emergency 

medical technicians, emergency responders, home health care personnel, homeless shelter personnel, 
personnel at referring health care facilities or agencies, and corrections personnel.  

 NOTE 2: Some diseases, such as meningococcal disease, require prompt prophylaxis of exposed 
individuals to prevent disease. Some diseases, such as varicella, have a limited window in which to 
administer vaccine to non-immune contacts. Exposure to some diseases may create a need to 
temporarily remove an HCW from certain duties during a potential period of communicability as 
determined by the local health officer for that jurisdiction of the potentially exposed HCW. For other 
diseases such as tuberculosis there may not be a need for immediate medical intervention, however 
prompt follow up is important to the success of identifying exposed HCWs.  

 
5. When NIHD becomes aware that HCWs may have been exposed to a reportable aerosol transmissible 

disease case or suspected case, or to an exposure incident involving an Aerosol transmissible pathogen 
this includes outbreak investigation–shall do the following:  
a. Within a timeframe that is reasonable for the specific disease, but in no case later than 72 hours 

following, as applicable, conduct an analysis of the exposure scenario to determine which HCWs 
had significant exposures. This analysis shall be conducted by the Infection Preventionist with 
assistance from Inyo County Health Department when indicated. This analysis will include the 
HCWs names and shall also record the basis for any determination that an HCW need not be 
included in post-exposure follow-up because the HCW did not have a significant exposure or 
because Employee Health, Infection Prevention, Physician, or other licensed health care professional 
determined that the HCW is immune to the infection in accordance with applicable public health 
guidelines. The exposure analysis shall be made available to the local health officer upon request. 
The name of the person making the determination, and the identity of any Physician or other 
licensed health care professional or local health officer consulted in making the determination shall 
be recorded.  

b. Within a timeframe that is reasonable for the specific disease, but in no case later than 96 hours of 
becoming aware of the potential exposure, notify HCWs who had significant exposures of the date, 
time, and nature of the exposure.  

c. Provide post-exposure medical evaluation to HCWs who had a significant high-risk exposure as 
soon as feasible if HCW requests. The evaluation shall be conducted by a physician or other licensed 
health care professional knowledgeable about the specific disease, including appropriate vaccination, 
prophylaxis and treatment. For M. tuberculosis, and for other pathogens where recommended by 
applicable public health guidelines, this shall include testing of the isolate from the source individual 
or material for drug susceptibility, unless that it is not feasible.  

6. Have employee contact Human Resources and contracted HCW must notify their agency if 
employee is not allowed to work based on risk exposure. Information provided to the physician or 
other licensed health care professional.  

a. NIHD will ensure that all physicians or other licensed health care professional responsible for 
making determinations and performing procedures as part of the medical services program are 
provided a copy of this standard and applicable public health guideline. For respirator medical 
evaluations, the employer shall provide information regarding the type of respiratory protection 
used, a description of the work effort required, any special environmental conditions that exist (e.g., 
heat, confined space entry), additional requirements for protective clothing and equipment, and the 
duration and frequency of respirator use.  

b. The  employer shall ensure that the Emergency Department physician or a physician or other 
licensed health care professional who evaluates an HCW after an exposure except for COVID-19  
incident is provided the following information:  

i. A description of the exposed employee's duties as they relate to the exposure incident;  

Page 34 of 124



 

12 
Aerosolized Transmissible Disease Exposure Plan/Respiratory Protection Program 

ii. The circumstances under which the exposure incident occurred;  
iii. Any available diagnostic test results, including drug susceptibility pattern or other 

information relating to the source of exposure that could assist in the medical management.  
iv. All of the HCW’s medical records for the employee that are relevant to the management, 

including tuberculin skin test results and other relevant tests for ATP infections, vaccination 
status, and determinations of immunity.  

7. Precautionary removal recommendation from the emergency room physician, other physician or 
other licensed health care professional Inyo County Health Department, Infection Prevention or 
Chief Medical Officer.  
a.  NIHD, when necessary, may request from the above an opinion regarding whether 

precautionary removal from the HCW’s regular assignment is necessary to prevent spread of the 
disease agent and what type of alternate work assignment may be provided. This 
recommendation will be documented in writing and provided to Human Resources and to the 
employee. 

b.  Where precautionary removal is recommended, NIHD shall maintain until the NIHD employee 
is determined to be noninfectious, the NIHD employee’s earnings, seniority, and all other 
employee rights and benefits, including the employee's right to his or her former job status, as if 
the employee had not been removed from his or her job or otherwise medically limited.  

EXCEPTION: Precautionary removal provisions do not extend to any period of time during which 
the employee is unable to work for reasons other than precautionary removal.  

8. Written opinion from the physician or other licensed health care professional related to precautionary 
removal from work 

a. For TB conversions with active TB and all reportable aerosol transmissible disease and aerosol 
transmissible pathogen – laboratory exposure incidents, the written opinion shall be limited to the 
following information:  

i. The HCWs TB test status or applicable reportable aerosol transmissible disease test status for 
the exposure of concern;  

ii. Latent TB conversions will be reported to Inyo County Health Department and employee is 
encouraged to follow-up with provider. 

i. Infectious status;  
ii. A statement that the HCW  has been informed of the results of the medical evaluation and 

has been offered any applicable, testing, vaccinations, prophylaxis, or treatment;  
iii. A statement that the HCW has been told about any medical conditions resulting from 

exposure to TB, other reportable aerosol transmissible disease, or aerosol transmissible 
pathogen – laboratory that require further evaluation or treatment and that the HCW  has 
been informed of treatment options; and  

iv. Any recommendations for precautionary removal from the employee’s regular assignment 
with the guidance of Human Resources.  

All other findings or diagnoses shall remain confidential and shall not be included in the written report.  
TRAINING: 
 

1.  NIHD will provide training to NIHD workforce with occupational exposure, and they will participate in 
the training program as listed in the exposure risk personnel that require fit testing tables. The 
Aerosolized Transmissible Disease training or notification of changes will occur as stated below:  

a. At the time of initial assignment to tasks where occupational exposure may take place;  
b. At upon hire, and least annually thereafter, not to exceed 12 months from the previous training;  
c. For NIHD workforce who have received training on aerosol transmissible diseases in the year 

preceding the effective date of the standard, only training with respect to the provisions of the 
standard that were not included previously need to be provided.  

Page 35 of 124



 

13 
Aerosolized Transmissible Disease Exposure Plan/Respiratory Protection Program 

d. When changes, such as introduction of new engineering or work practice controls, modification of 
tasks or procedures or institution of new tasks or procedures, affect the HCW’s occupational 
exposure or control measures. The additional training may be limited to addressing the new 
exposures or control measures.  

2. Training material appropriate in content and vocabulary to the educational level, literacy, and language 
of HCW shall be used.  

3. The training program shall contain at a minimum the following elements:  
a. An accessible copy of the regulatory text of this standard and an explanation of its contents.  
b. A general explanation of Aerosolized Transmissible Diseases including the signs and symptoms 

of that require further medical evaluation.  
c. An explanation of the modes of transmission of Aerosol transmissible pathogen – or Aerosol 

transmissible pathogen – laboratory and applicable source control procedures.  
d. An explanation of the employer's ATD Exposure Control Plan and/or Respiratory Protection 

Program and Biosafety Plan, and the means by which the HCW can obtain a copy of the written 
plan and how they can provide input as to its effectiveness.  

e. An explanation of the appropriate methods for recognizing tasks and other activities that may 
expose the HCW to Aerosol transmissible pathogen or Aerosol transmissible pathogen – 
laboratory  

f. An explanation of the use and limitations of methods that will prevent or reduce exposure to 
Aerosol transmissible pathogen or Aerosol transmissible pathogen laboratory including 
appropriate engineering and work practice controls, decontamination and disinfection 
procedures, and personal and respiratory protective equipment.  

g. An explanation of the basis for selection of personal protective equipment, its uses and 
limitations, and the types, proper use, location, removal, handling, cleaning, decontamination and 
disposal of the items of personal protective equipment HCW will use.  

h. A description of the employer’s TB surveillance procedures, including the information that 
persons who are immune-compromised may have a false negative test for Latent TB infection  

i. Training meeting the annual requirements for NIHD workforce whose assignment includes the 
use of a respirator (N95,PAPR).  

j. Information on the vaccines made available by Employee Health, including information on their 
efficacy, safety, method of administration, the benefits of being vaccinated, and that the vaccine 
and vaccination will be offered free of charge.  

k. An explanation of the procedure to follow if an exposure incident occurs, including the method 
of reporting the incident, the medical follow-up that will be made available, and post-exposure 
evaluation.  

l. Information on the employer’s surge plan as it pertains to the duties that the HCW will perform. 
As applicable, this training shall cover the plan for surge receiving and treatment of patients, 
patient isolation procedures, surge procedures for handling of specimens, including specimens 
from persons who may have been contaminated as the result of a release of a biological agent, 
how to access supplies needed for the response including personal protective equipment and 
respirators, decontamination facilities and procedures, and how to coordinate with emergency 
response personnel from other agencies.  

 
ENGINEERING CONTROLS 

1. Specific requirements for Airborne Infection Isolation Rooms and areas.  Hospital isolation rooms 
constructed in conformance with General Requirements of Mechanical Ventilation Systems.   

2. Negative pressure shall be maintained in Airborne Infection Isolation Rooms or areas. The ventilation 
rate shall be 12 or more air changes per hour (ACH). The required ventilation rate may be achieved in 
part by using in-room high efficiency particulate air (HEPA) filtration or other air cleaning technologies, 
but in no case shall the outdoor air supply ventilation rate be less than six ACH. Hoods, booths, tents 

Page 36 of 124



 

14 
Aerosolized Transmissible Disease Exposure Plan/Respiratory Protection Program 

and other local exhaust control measures shall comply with Guidelines for Preventing the Transmission 
of Mycobacterium tuberculosis in Health-Care Settings.  

3. Engineering controls shall be maintained, inspected and performance monitored for exhaust or 
recirculation filter loading and leakage at least annually, whenever filters are changed, and more often if 
necessary to maintain effectiveness. NIHD’s maintenance department does check at least quarterly. 
NIHD Plant Maintenance has an aggressive filter-checking program that is managed with a software 
program for this purpose. If a problem(s) prevent the room from providing effective AII, then the room 
shall not be used for that purpose until the condition is corrected.  

4. Ventilation systems for AII rooms or areas shall be constructed, installed, inspected, operated, tested, 
and maintained in accordance with regulatory guidelines General Requirements of Mechanical 
Ventilation Systems, of these orders. Inspections, testing and maintenance shall be documented in 
writing. 

5. Air from Airborne Infection Isolation Rooms (AIIR) or areas, and areas that are connected via plenums 
or other shared air spaces shall be exhausted directly outside, away from intake vents, HCWs, and the 
general public. Air that cannot be exhausted in such a manner or that must be recirculated must pass 
through HEPA filters before discharge or recirculation.  

6. Ducts carrying air that may reasonably be anticipated to contain aerosolized M. tuberculosis or other 
airborne infectious pathogen shall be maintained under negative pressure for their entire length before 
in-duct HEPA filtration or until the ducts exit the building for discharge.  

7. Doors and windows of Airborne Infection Isolation Rooms or areas shall be kept closed while in use for 
airborne infection isolation, except when doors are opened for entering or exiting. 

8. When a case or suspected case vacates an Airborne Infection Isolation Rooms or area, the room or area 
shall be ventilated according to Table 1 in the Guidelines for Preventing the Transmission of 
Mycobacterium tuberculosis in Health-Care Settings for a removal efficiency of 99.9 % before 
permitting HCW to enter without respiratory protection.  
 

 
TABLE 1 Air Exchange Within NIHD Departments: 

Department Name Air exchange per Hour 
(ACH) 

Minutes Required for Removal 

efficiency  
  99% 99.9% 

Emergency Department 6 ACH 46 69 
Emergency Department 

Triage  
12 ACH 23 35 

Med-Surg Non AIIR  6 ACH 46 69 

ICU Non AIIR 6 ACH 46 69 
AIIR M/S 5 & ICU 1 12 ACH 23 35 

OB 6 ACH 46 69 
Pre-op/PACU 6 ACH 46 69 

OR 25 ACH 14 21 
Outpatient Infusion 6 ACH 46 69 

Clinics 2  ACH 138 207 
Negative Pressure Room in 
Pediatric Clinic and RHC 

50 ACH 6 8 

 

Page 37 of 124



 

15 
Aerosolized Transmissible Disease Exposure Plan/Respiratory Protection Program 

 
 
LABORATORIES 

1. The biological safety officer at NIHD is the Medical Director of Laboratory Services. 
2. The biological safety officer performs a risk assessment in accordance with accepted methodology for 

each agent and procedure involving the handling of aerosolized transmissible disease pathogens in the 
lab Aerosol transmissible pathogen laboratory  

3. Our laboratory has feasible engineering and work practice controls, in accordance with the risk 
assessment to minimize the HCW exposures to Aerosol transmissible pathogen – laboratory. If exposure 
still remains after the institution of engineering and work practice controls, then the HCW will use the 
appropriate PPE when and where necessary.  

4. Biosafety Plan: The employer shall establish, implement, and maintain an effective written Biosafety 
Plan to minimize exposures to Aerosol transmissible pathogen – laboratory that may be transmitted by 
laboratory aerosols. The Biosafety Plan is kept in the laboratory’s safety manual and includes the 
following:  
a. Identifies a biological safety officer(s) with the necessary knowledge, authority and responsibility 

for implementing the Biosafety Plan  
b. Establishes safe handling procedures and prohibit practices, such as sniffing in vitro cultures that 

may increase exposure to infectious agents.  
c. Identifies any operations or conditions in which respiratory protection will be required.  
d. Establishes emergency procedures for uncontrolled releases within the laboratory facility and 

untreated releases outside the laboratory facility. These procedures shall include effective means of 
reporting such incidents to the local health officer.  

e. Includes procedures for communication of hazards and NIHD workforce training. This shall include 
training in the Biosafety Plan and emergency procedures.  

f. Includes an effective procedure for obtaining the active involvement of HCW in reviewing and 
updating the Biosafety Plan with respect to the procedures performed in their respective work areas 
or departments on an annual (or more frequent) basis.  

g. Includes procedures for the biological safety officer(s) to review plans for facility design and 
construction that will affect the control measures for Aerosol transmissible pathogen – laboratory.  

h. Includes procedures for inspection of laboratory facilities, including an audit of Biosafety 
procedures. These inspections shall be performed at least annually. Hazards found during the 
inspection, and actions taken to correct hazards, shall be recorded.  

5. Recordkeeping will be done by the biological safety officer.   
 
SURGE PROCEDURES  

1. In the event of a surge of patients due to infectious disease, NIHD staff will follow established policies 
for Disaster Preparedness. 

2. NIHD may participate in a multi-agency management plan, and will be directed by the Incident 
Command System and the county Emergency Operations Center. 

3. Respiratory and personal protective equipment may be stockpiled and distributed by the Inyo County 
Health Department for use during a public health surge. 

 
RECORDKEEPING 

1. Medical records.  

Page 38 of 124



 

16 
Aerosolized Transmissible Disease Exposure Plan/Respiratory Protection Program 

a. Employers are responsible for recording cases of Aerosolized Transmissible Diseases for 
occupational exposures, and if it involves days away from work and/or medical treatment. This 
record may not be combined with non-medical personnel records.  

b. This record shall include:  
i. The HCW name and any other identifier used in the workplace;  

ii. The HCW vaccination status for all vaccines required by this standard, including the 
information provided by Employee Health, any vaccine record provided by the employee 
HCW, and any signed declination forms;  

EXCEPTION: As to seasonal influenza vaccine, the medical record need only contain a declination 
form for the most recent seasonal influenza vaccine.  
iii. A copy of all written opinions provided by a Physician or other licensed health care 

professional in accordance with this standard, and the results of all TB assessments; and  
iv. A copy of the information regarding an exposure incident that was provided to the Physician 

or other licensed health care. 
c. Confidentiality. The employer shall ensure that all medical records required by this section are:  

i. Kept confidential; and  
ii. Not disclosed or reported without written consent to any person within or outside the 

workplace except as permitted by this section or as may be required by law.  
NOTE: These provisions do not apply to records that do not contain individually identifiable 
medical information, or from which individually identifiable medical information has been removed.  

d. The employer shall maintain the medical records required by this section for at least the duration of 
employment plus 30 years in accordance with Section 3204, Access to Employee Exposure and 
Medical Records, of these orders.  

2. Training records.  
a. Training records shall include the following information:  

i. The date(s) of the training session(s);  
ii. The contents or a summary of the training session(s);  

iii. The names and qualifications of persons conducting the training or who are designated to 
respond to interactive questions; and  

iv. The names and job titles of all persons attending the training sessions.  
b. Training records shall be maintained for 3 years from the date on which the training occurred.  

3. Records of implementation of Aerosolized Transmissible Disease Plan and/or Biosafety Plan.  
a. Records of annual review of the ATD Plan and Respiratory Protection Program Biosafety Plan shall 

include the name(s) of the person conducting the review, the dates the review was conducted and 
completed, the name(s) and work area(s) of HCWs involved, and a summary of the conclusions. The 
record shall be retained for three years.  

b. Records of exposure incidents shall be retained and made available as HCW exposure records in 
accordance with Section 3204. These records shall include:  

i. The date of the exposure incident;  
ii. The names, and any other identifiers used in the workplace, of employees who were included 

in the exposure evaluation;  
iii. The disease or pathogen to which HCW may have been exposed;  
iv. The name and job title of the person performing the evaluation;  
v. The identity of any local health officer and/or Physician or other licensed health care 

consulted;  
vi. The date of the evaluation; and  

vii. The date of contact and contact information for any other employer notified by NIHD 
regarding potential employee exposure.  

Page 39 of 124



 

17 
Aerosolized Transmissible Disease Exposure Plan/Respiratory Protection Program 

c. Records of the unavailability of vaccine shall include the name of the person who determined that 
the vaccine was not available, the name and affiliation of the person providing the vaccine 
availability information, and the date of the contact. This record shall be retained for three years.  

d. Records of the unavailability of Airborne Infection Isolation Rooms or areas shall include the name 
of the person who determined that an Airborne Infection Isolation Room or area was not available, 
the names and the affiliation of persons contacted for transfer possibilities, and the date of the 
contact, the name and contact information for the local health officer providing assistance, and the 
times and dates of these contacts. This record, which shall not contain a patient’s individually 
identifiable medical information, shall be retained for three years.  

e. Records of decisions not to transfer a patient to another facility for Airborne Infection Isolation 
Room for medical reasons shall be documented in the patient’s chart, and a summary shall be 
provided to the plan administrator providing only the name of the physician determining that the 
patient was not able to be transferred, the date and time of the initial decision and the date, time and 
identity of the person(s) who performed each daily review. The summary record, which shall not 
contain a patient’s individually identifiable medical information, shall be retained for three years. 

f. Records of inspection, testing and maintenance of non-disposable engineering controls including 
ventilation and other air handling systems, air filtration systems, containment equipment, biological 
safety cabinets, and waste treatment systems shall be maintained for a minimum of five years and 
shall include the name(s) and affiliation(s) of the person(s) performing the test, inspection or 
maintenance, the date, and any significant findings and actions that were taken. Plant operation uses 
a computer-based work system for documentation of records. 

g. As stated under 29 CFR 1910.134(m)(2), the following information must be recorded: the name of 
the HCW ; the type of test performed (QLFT or QNFT); specific respirator tested; date of the test; 
and the results of the test. This information must be retained until the next fit test is administered.  

4. Availability.  
a. The employer shall ensure that all records, other than the HCW medical records more specifically 

dealt with in this subsection, required to be maintained by this section shall be made available upon 
request by the exposed subject or regulatory agencies if requested.  

b. NIHD workforce training records, the exposure control plan and/or Biosafety plan, and records of 
implementation of the Aerosolized Transmissible Disease exposure control plan and Respiratory 
Protection Program and the Biosafety plan other than medical records containing individually 
identifiable medical information, shall be made available in accordance to HCW and/or 
representatives.  

c. NIHD workforce medical records required by this subsection shall be provided upon request by the 
exposed HCW or anyone having the written consent of the HCW, the Inyo County Health Officer, 
and to the Chief and National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health in accordance with 
section 3204 of these orders, Access to HCW exposure and medical records, for examination and 
copying.   

5. Transfer of Records.  
a. NIHD will comply with the requirements involving the transfer of NIHD workforce medical and 

exposure records. 
b. If the employer ceases to do business and there is no successor employer to receive and retain the 

records for the prescribed period, the employer shall notify the Chief Operations Officer and 
National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health, at least three months prior to the disposal of 
the records and shall transmit them to National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health, if 
required by National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health to do so, within that three-month 
period. NOTE: Authority cited Sections 142.3 and 6308; Labor Code. Reference: Sections 142.3 and 
6308, Labor Code, and 8 CCR 332.3. 

 

Page 40 of 124



 

18 
Aerosolized Transmissible Disease Exposure Plan/Respiratory Protection Program 

REFERENCES: 

1. California Occupational Safety & Health Standards Board (OSHSB). Site accessed 6-19-25  General 
Industry Safety Orders, Aerosolized Transmissible Diseases, Title 8, Chapter 4, Subchapter 7, Article 
109, Section 5199  http://www.dir.ca.gov/title8/5199.HTML   

2. California Department of Public Health. Site accessed 6-19-25  ATD Standard Appendix D: Aerosol 
Transmissible Pathogens-Laboratory. Retrieved from https://www.dir.ca.gov/title8/5199d.html  

3.  Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). (2023). TB Prevention in Health Care Settings: 
Tuberculosis Infection Control. Retrieved from https://www.cdc.gov/tb-healthcare-
settings/hcp/infection-control/index.html (  

4. California Occupational Safety & Health Standards Board (OSHSB (2023). The California Workplace 
Guide to Aerosol Transmissible Disease Standards. Retrieved from 
https://www.dir.ca.gov/dosh/dosh_publications/ATD-Guide.pdf    

5. California Department of Public Health. (August 21, 2018). Respiratory Protection: Cal/OSHA 
Respiratory Protection Standard. Retrieved from 
https://www.cdph.ca.gov/Programs/CCDPHP/DEODC/OHB/Pages/RespStd.aspx#:~:text=The%20Cal%
2FOSHA%20Respiratory%20Protection,training%2C%20fit%20testing%20and%20recordkeeping. 

6. California Department of Public Health. (2024). Tuberculosis Control Branch- TB Risk Assessment. 
Retrieved from https://www.cdph.ca.gov/Programs/CID/DCDC/Pages/TB-Risk-Assessment.aspx 

7. California Tuberculosis Controllers Association. (2016-2025) CDPH-CTCA Joint Guidance and Related 
Guidelines. Retrieved from https://ctca.org/guidelines/cdph-ctca-joint-guidelines /    

8. California Department of Public Health (2025). Immunization and Immunity Recommendations for 
California Healthcare Personnel and Health Science Students. Retrieved from 
https://www.cdph.ca.gov/Programs/CID/DCDC/CDPH%20Document%20Library/Immunization/HCWI
ZRecs.pdf 

9.  
10. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2024) Strategies for Conserving the Supply of N95 

Filtering Face piece Respirators. Retrieved  from 
https://www.cdc.gov/niosh/healthcare/hcp/pandemic/conserving-n95.html  

11. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. \(2024). Hygiene and Respiratory Viruses Prevention. 
Retrieved from https://www.cdc.gov/respiratory-viruses/prevention/hygiene.html 

12. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2025). About The National Personal Protective 
Technology Laboratory (NPPTL). Retrieved from https://www.cdc.gov/niosh/divisions-offices/personal-
protective-tech-lab.html 

13. Implementing Respiratory Protection Programs in Hospitals a Guide for Respirator Program 
Administrators, California Department of Public Health, Occupational Health Branch, August 2015. 
https://www.cdph.ca.gov/Programs/CCDPHP/DEODC/OHB/CDPH%20Document%20Library/HCResp
-CARPPGuide.pdf  

14. California Department of Public Health (2021). Cal/OSHA Aerosol Transmissible Disease Standards. 
Retrieved from https://www.cdph.ca.gov/Programs/CCDPHP/DEODC/OHB/Pages/ATDStd.aspx  

15. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention  (2024). Transmission-based precautions. Retrieved from 
https://www.cdc.gov/infection-control/hcp/basics/transmission-based-
precautions.html?CDC_AAref_Val=https://www.cdc.gov/infectioncontrol/basics/transmission-based-
precautions.html  

CROSS-REFERENCED POLICIES AND PROCEDURES: 
1. Airborne Infection Isolation Rooms (AIIR)  
2.  Infection Prevention Recommendation for Avian Influenza, Novel Influenza, and Seasonal Flu. bola 
3. Triage of Patients Suspected of Viral Hemorrhagic Fever (VHF).  
4. Interim Guidance for Environmental Infection Control for Patients With Probable/Suspected Viral 

Hemorrhagic Fever (VHF)  

Page 41 of 124



 

19 
Aerosolized Transmissible Disease Exposure Plan/Respiratory Protection Program 

5.  Tuberculosis Exposure Control Plan  
6.  Employee Health NIHD Tuberculosis Surveillance Program  
7. Care and Donning of a Powered Air Purifying Respirator (PAPR)  
8. Infectious/Bio-Hazardous Waste: Hazardous Substance Communication Program  
9. Infectious/Non-Infectious Waste Disposal Procedure  
10. Laboratory Biosafety Plan  

 
RECORD RETENTION AND DESTRUCTION: 
As described in the Policy and Procedure example fit test results.   
 

Supersedes: v.10 Aerosolized Transmissible Disease Exposure Plan/Respiratory Protection 
Program & Northern Inyo Healthcare District COVID-19 Prevention Program (CPP) 

 

Page 42 of 124



NORTHERN INYO HEALTHCARE DISTRICT 
NON-CLINICAL POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Capital Budget Process
Owner: Director of Purchasing Department: Purchasing
Scope: District Wide
Date Last Modified: 08/14/2025 Last Review Date: No Review 

Date
Version: 1

Final Approval by: NIHD Board of Directors Original Approval Date: 

PURPOSE:
The purpose of this policy is to establish guidelines and procedures for managing capital equipment requests 
within our organization.  By ensuring timely submission, thorough review, and effective communication, we 
aim to optimize resource allocation and promote efficient operations.  This policy outlines the steps involved in 
requesting, evaluating, and prioritizing capital needs, ultimately contributing to the success of our organization.

POLICY: 
To the extent possible, all expected capital needs will be forecasted and presented during the budgeting process 
for acceptance and prioritization.

PROCEDURE:
A. Each department will submit requests for capital equipment as part of the annual capital budget 

process.  The Finance Department will establish time frames for submission.

1. All requests for purchases in the coming year will be submitted on a Request for Capital 
Equipment and will include all necessary supporting documentation and/or justifications.

2. Any requests for new or emerging technology must go through the technology assessment 
process prior to submission in the budget process.

3. The submitted price should be as close to the expected actual price as possible.  Do not use the 
list price when supplier discounts are available.  If using a supplier quote, ensure that the supplier
has provided a reasonable quote based on the future purchase.  Do not attempt to obtain or 
negotiate a final price.

4. Each department will also submit a five-year capital projection.  This projection will list all 
anticipated replacement needs by year with estimated cost.

5. The Purchasing Department will assist in obtaining quotes and alternate sources as requested.

6. Requests will be submitted to the Purchasing Department for review of completeness and 
reasonableness.  The department will:

a) Return incomplete requests and include instructions for completing.

Page 1 of 3
Capital Budget Process

Page 43 of 124



b) In the event of a potentially unrealistic cost estimate, contact the department manager and
discuss the budget price.  The budget price will be modified to reflect the results of the 
discussion.

c) Determine if an Engineering and/or Information Systems review is required.  Engineering
review is required for items requiring installation (either by engineering or the supplier) 
and for items requiring dedicated utilities.  Information Systems review is required for 
any computer equipment or peripherals.  If review is required, the Director highlights the 
Engineering and/or Information Systems sections of the form.

7. The Executive Team member will review the requests and determine if they supports the request 
for the coming fiscal year.  If so, all requests requiring Engineering and/or Information Systems 
review will be forwarded.  Unsupported requests will be returned to the department manager.

8. Engineering and/or Information Systems will review all requests and take on one of the 
following actions:

a) Recommend approval
b) Add or revise installation cost estimates
c) Recommend changes to the request
d) Outline any concerns with the request
e) Recommend that the request not be approved

All comments will be in writing and returned to the executive team member within five working 
days.

Once all reviews have been completed and returned, the Executive Team member reevaluates the
requests based on the information provided and either approves or disapproves them.  All 
approved requests are forwarded to the Value Analysis Capital (VAC) workgroup for review.  
Unapproved requests are returned to the department managers.

9. The VAC will prioritize all requests and prepare a suggested capital budget list based on the 
estimated capital budget amount.  This list will present the year’s purchases in a month-by-
month format.  The Finance Department will be consulted to assist with predicting cash flow.  
The list will be forwarded to the Chief Financial Officer.  A list of capital items requested but not
included in the final approved list will also be provided.

B. Requests for capital projects will be submitted as part of the annual capital budget process.

1. All such requests will be generated by or with the assistance of the Facilities Engineer.  Each 
request will include:

a) Scope identifying major pieces of capital equipment, if any
b) Cost estimate broken down into major segments
c) Impact on operations during construction
d) Justification

2. The responsible Executive Team member reviews capital project requests and forwards them to 
the Chief Financial Officer for final approval.

C. The Chief Financial Officer will modify both lists as needed and approve the final lists.  Finance will
slot each approved capital equipment request in an anticipated purchase month.  Finance will slot 

Page 2 of 3
Capital Budget Process

Page 44 of 124



each approved capital project in an anticipated start month.  The final lists will be provided to all 
department managers.

D. Inclusion on the capital budget indicates that the purchase of the equipment or project is anticipated. 
It is not an authorization to purchase.  The Request for Capital Budget Approval/Purchase must still 
be finished with appropriate authorizations prior to initiating the purchasing process.

E. Department managers will re-initiate capital requests far enough in advance of the planned 
acquisition month so that sufficient time is provided to source, bid, and/or negotiate.  This can be 
from one month to six months, depending on the complexity of the purchase.  The Director of 
Purchasing or their designate must be included in all capital purchase deliberations, including those 
in the preliminary stages.

REFERENCES: Association for Healthcare Resource & Materials Management Policy and Procedure Manual

RECORD RETENTION AND DESTRUCTION:

CROSS REFERENCE POLICIES AND PROCEDURES: Capitalization of Assets, Capital Purchase 
Process.

Supersedes: Not Set

Page 3 of 3
Capital Budget Process

Page 45 of 124



NORTHERN INYO HEALTHCARE DISTRICT 
NON-CLINICAL POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Criteria for Storeroom Items
Owner: Director of Purchasing Department: Purchasing
Scope:  Purchasing Department
Date Last Modified: 08/14/2025 Last Review Date: No Review 

Date
Version: 2

Final Approval by: NIHD Board of Directors Original Approval Date: 03/25/2014

PURPOSE:
To manage materials stock for the District in an efficient manner.  

POLICY:
The storeroom will primarily stock high-use supplies used by more than one department.
PROCEDURE:

A. Any item used within the institution is a potential candidate to be maintained in the storeroom.
B. The following are the best candidates for inclusion:

1. Fast moving items used by multiple departments.
2. Slow moving items used by multiple departments when the item must be purchased in bulk (case or 

box) quantities.
3. Fast moving items used by one department when those items are on an automatic resupply program.
4. Items used by one department where adequate storage space is not available in the user department 

for the quantities needed to be purchased.
5. Any item where a backup supply is deemed critical.

C. In general, it is desirable to store items in as few locations as possible.  Therefore, if an item is used by 
only one department, that item will not normally be maintained in the storeroom.

D. Items will not be stored in the storeroom unless they are part of the official storeroom inventory.
E. The Materials Manager will review requests for additions to the storeroom inventory and accept or 

discuss options with the requestor.

REFERENCES:  N/A

RECORD RETENTION AND DESTRUCTION:
Costs associated with purchases will be maintained in the finance department for a minimum of 15 years.

CROSS REFERENCED POLICIES AND PROCEDURES:
1. Delivery of received goods
2. Storeroom basics
3. Inventory Control Obsolescence

Supersedes: v.1 Criteria for Storeroom Items

Page 1 of 1
Criteria for Storeroom Items

Page 46 of 124



NORTHERN INYO HEALTHCARE DISTRICT
CLINICAL POLICY AND PROCEDURE

Title: Death and Disposition of Body
Owner: DON Inpatient Services Department: Acute/Subacute Unit, ICU, OB, ED
Scope:  Hospital Clinical Units
Date Last Modified: 03/06/2025 Last Review Date: No Review 

Date
Version: 8

Final Approval by: NIHD Board of Directors Original Approval Date: 05/2009

PURPOSE: 
To instruct the Nursing Workforce on the procedure following a patient's death related to disposition of the 
body and personal belongings, and to ensure that the remains of deceased patients (hereinafter “the body”) are 
handled in accordance with patient/family wishes and the needs of the District while complying with industry 
standards for disposition.

POLICY:
1. In the event of a patient's death, the nursing staff will follow the following procedure related to Death 

and Disposition of Body; Organ/Tissue/Eye Donation; and Coroner’s Case policies as appropriate.

2. California Health and Safety Code requires health care facilities to notify the mortuary attendant, prior 
to removal of the body, if the patient is afflicted with a reportable disease (as listed in Title 17, 
California Code of Regulation, Section 2500 (c), i.e., HIV disease, Hepatitis, etc.) without written 
authorization of the patient’s representative. 

3. Any instructions given to the hospital in writing by the patient for the disposition (type of disposition, or
place of interment) of the body will be carried out as required by law.

4. If the death is deemed a coroner’s case, the coroner will receive the body regardless of the deceased 
patient’s written instructions, or any instructions of the patient’s survivors.

5. If there are no written instructions in the chart for the disposition of the deceased patient’s body, the 
hospital will follow the instructions as provided by the person with the most authority.  The following 
persons in the order listed below will determine the plan for the remains of the deceased.

a. Person appointed as agent for the patient through a power of attorney.
b. Spouse or domestic partner
c. Adult (over 18) child, or the majority of the surviving adult children, or if the majority of 

surviving adult children are not available, the instructions of the children available
d. Parent(s) of the deceased.  If both parents are alive, but one is not available, then, the instructions

of the one that is available will be followed.
e. Sibling(s)
f. Next of kin in order of degrees of kinship
g. Public Administrator

6. If after contacting an out of town funeral director as instructed, that funeral director is unable or 
unwilling to remove the body from the hospital within 3 hours of death, or if the bed is needed 
immediately, the hospital shall call the local funeral director in Bishop California to remove the body.

Page 1 of 3
Death and Disposition of Body

Page 47 of 124



7. If the local funeral director is called to remove the body of a patient whose instructions required using an
out of town funeral home, or if the instructions of the deceased patient’s agent requires using an out of 
town funeral home, then, the House Supervisor (HS) will inform the agent or next of kin that the body 
had to be removed by the local funeral director and there will be a charge from them for this service.

8. The patient’s belongings are either given to the family or placed in a bag and given to the mortuary 
attendant.  A list of belongings sent either home or to the mortuary should be noted on the “Release of 
Body to Mortuary Form.”  The original form will be maintained by Northern Inyo Healthcare District 
(NIHD) in the medical record.  A copy of the form will be sent with the body.

9. Notification of the Organ Procurement Organization will be completed per policy and documented on 
the “Release of Body to Mortuary Form” (Attached).  See “Organ/Tissue/Eye Donation” policy for 
procedure.  

10.  Should an Autopsy be required, the physician shall discuss the rationale with the next of kin and     
obtain a signature on the California Hospital Association form 11-1 found in the consent manual 
(located on the NIHD Intranet>Resources>Information>Compliance>CHA Manuals>Consent Manual).

PROCEDURE:
1. The nurse shall notify the  attending physician or Emergency Department physician to pronounce the 

patient’s death.  

2. The physician shall notify the family of the patient’s death or will request that the Registered Nurse 
(RN) provide this communication.

3. If the family wishes to view the body, the RN will accommodate this request.

4. The nurse shall prepare the body for transfer to the mortuary or follow established policy if a coroner’s 
case.  When death is not a coroner’s case, all tubes, dressings, (unless containing drainage), etc. shall be 
removed prior to transfer.  

5. The HS, or their designee,will report all deaths to the Organ Procurement Organization following the 
Organ /Tissue/Eye Donation policy, prior to releasing the body to the mortuary.  All releases of patient 
information to tissue/organ procurement/donor organizations must be documented on the Release of 
Body to Mortuary form for HIPAA tracking purposes.   

6. HS or designee will:
a. Check the chart for instructions for disposition of the decedent’s remains.
b. Call the funeral director listed or the County Coroner if the case warrants.
c. Call the funeral director chosen by the person in authority in accordance with this policy if there 

are no written instructions.
d. Call the local funeral director if the body cannot be picked up within 3 hours, OR, if the 

supervisor determines that the bed is needed sooner than 3 hours.
e. Fill out all necessary paperwork and file the copy of the Release of Body in the chart.

7. The mortuary attendant will sign the RELEASE OF BODY TO MORTUARY (form HIPAA-43).  This 
completed form remains in the medical record of the patient.  The hospital may release to the mortuary:

a.   the patient’s name 
b.   date and time of death 

Page 2 of 3
Death and Disposition of Body

Page 48 of 124



c.   the patient’s face sheet

REFERENCES:
1. California Hospital Association.  Consent Manual (2021) Chapter 14 Death, Autopsies and Anatomical 

Gifts
2. California Hospital Association.  Consent Manual (2021) Chapter 18.12 Reporting Communicable 

Diseases

RECORD RETENTION AND DESTRUCTION:
Documentation related to death and disposition of the body are included in the patient’s medical record.  
Medical records are maintained by the NIHD Medical Records Department.

CROSS REFERENCED POLICIES AND PROCEDURES:
1. Coroner’s Case
2. Organ/Tissue/Eye Donation
3. Death and Disposition of Body

Supersedes: v.7 Death and Disposition of Body

Page 3 of 3
Death and Disposition of Body

Page 49 of 124



NORTHERN INYO HEALTHCARE DISTRICT

PLAN

Title:  DI - MRI Safety Plan
Owner: Manager of Diagnostic Imaging 
Services

Department: Diagnostic Imaging

Scope: All Hospital Staff
Date Last Modified:
07/11/2024

Last Review Date:
08/06/2025

Version: 1

Final Approval by: NIHD Board of Directors Original Approval Date: 07-25-2005

Introduction

MAGNETIC RESONANCE (MR) Safety Manual’s purpose is to establish MR safe practices from a growing 
awareness of the MR environment’s potential risks and adverse events involving patients, equipment, and 
personnel. The American College of Radiology (ACR) manual on MR Safety remains the key document on 
industry standards for safe and responsible guidelines in clinical MR environments. Northern Inyo Healthcare 
District (NIHD) MR department’s intent is to follow ACR Guidance Document on MR Safe Practices from 
2020. The intent of this plan and cross referenced procedures is to assist NIHD staff, physicians, and 
departments to help prevent adverse staff and patient outcomes relating to medical procedures in MRI. 

A. Establish, Implement, and Maintain Current MR Safety Policies and Procedures:

1. NIHD’s MR Department will maintain and implement safety procedures regarding our current GE 
Signa 1.5-tesla magnet.  This MRI safety plan is directly associated with and inclusive of all MRI 
Safety Procedures listed in the cross referenced policy and procedures section of this plan.    

2. Cross referenced procedures will be reviewed annually as part of this MRI Safety Plan.  
3. Cross referenced procedures and MRI Safety Plan will be reviewed with the introduction of any 

significant changes in safety parameters of the MR site (e.g., adding faster or stronger gradient 
capabilities, higher RF duty cycle studies, etc.)

4. NIHD’s Magnetic Resonance Medical Director(MRMD) is responsible for ensuring that MR safe 
guidelines and operations are established and maintained as current and appropriate for the site. The 
MRMD shall be responsible for the formulation and application of policies and procedures that 
ensure the safety of patients, MRI staff, and others in the MRI environment. 

5. The MRMD is responsible to delegate MRI safety-related tasks to the Magnetic Resonance Safety 
Officer (MRSO) who is responsible for the day-to-day implementation of the site’s safety policies. 

6. The MRSO must be trained and experienced in MRI and MRI safety, but need not be a medical 
physician. It is the responsibility of the site’s administration to ensure that the policies and 
procedures that result from these MR safe practice guidelines are implemented and adhered to at all 
times and by all of the site’s personnel. 

7. Procedures will be in place to ensure that any and all adverse events, MR safety incidents, or “near 
incidents” that occur in the MR suite are reported to the MRMD in a timely manner and used in 
continuous quality improvement efforts. MRI incidents will be reported to the Radiology Services 
Committee through the Radiation Safety / MR Safety Committee meeting.  

1
DI - MRI Safety Plan

Page 50 of 124



REFERENCES:

MRI Safety References

1. ACR Manual on MRI Safety (2020 edition)

2. Dr. Kanal, Emmanual “Kanal’s MRMD/MRSO MR Safety Training Course – Orlando, FL”. Nov 3, 
2019 – Nov 6, 2019. North West Imaging Forums, INC. 

3. Kanal E, Barkovich AJ, Bell C, et al. ACR guidance document on MR safe practices: 2007. AJR AM J
Roentgenol 2007;188:1447-1474

4. Kanal E, Barkovich AJ, Bell C, et al. ACR guidance document on MR safe practices:2013. J Magn 
Reson Imaging 2013;37;501-530.

5. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services Food and Drug Administration,
6. Center for Devices and Radiological Health. Criteria for significant risk investigations of magnetic 

resonance diagnostic devices. Guidance for industry and Food and Drug Administration staff. 
7. International Commission on Non-Ionizing Radiation Protection. Guidelines on limits of exposure to 

static magnetic fields. Health Phys 2009;96:504–514.
8. The Joint Commission: Diagnostic imaging requirements, issued August 10, 2015. Available at 

https://www.jointcommission.org/diagnostic_imaging_standards/.
9. The ACR Guidance Statement on MR Safe Practice, issued 2013, 2018, 2019 

https://www.acr.org/Clinical-Resources/Radiology-Safety/MR-Safety

CROSS REFERENCED POLICIES AND PROCEDURES:
 DI - MRI Safety - Burn/Thermal Incident Reduction Policy
 DI - MRI Safety – Special Patient Population Management 
 DI – MRI Safety – Noise Protection
 DI – MRI Safety – Patient and Caretaker Screening
 DI – MRI Safety – MRI Access Control – NIHD Staff
 DI – MRI Safety – MRI Safety Organizational Structure
 DI – MRI Safety – NIHD Specific Zone Identification
 Cylinder Safe Handling 

Supersedes: Not Set

2
DI - MRI Safety Plan

Page 51 of 124

https://www.jointcommission.org/diagnostic_imaging_standards/
https://www.acr.org/Clinical-Resources/Radiology-Safety/MR-Safety


 

Page 1 of 2 
Emergency Purchases 

NORTHERN INYO HEALTHCARE DISTRICT  

NON-CLINICAL POLICY AND PROCEDURE  

 

 

 

 

Title: Emergency Purchases 

Owner: Director of Purchasing Department: Purchasing 

Scope:  District Wide 

Date Last Modified: 08/14/2025 Last Review Date: No Review 

Date 

Version: 3 

Final Approval by: NIHD Board of Directors  Original Approval Date: 08/17/2015 

 

PURPOSE: 

To clarify process and requirements associated with ‘emergency’ need to purchase materials outside of normal 

process in order to meet Northern Inyo Healthcare District’s (NIHD) mission. 

 

POLICY: 

Emergency purchases will be approved prior to purchase. (See Procedure Section B and C.)   

Information about the purchase will be provided to Purchasing no later than the next business day. 

 

PROCEDURE 

A. Certain instances may occur when procurement is deemed to be so urgent that adherence to the normal 

requisition/purchasing system would be detrimental to patient care or safety. 

 

B. During normal business hours: 

1. The individual who identifies the emergent need will contact Purchasing by telephone, explain 

the situation and jointly determine what action is to be taken.  This may entail Purchasing staff 

taking necessary action or the user getting a purchase order number and taking action himself or 

herself. 

2. The individual is responsible for getting the properly signed requisition, as well as any 

information about the purchase (as noted below) to Purchasing as soon as possible.  At no time 

should this exceed one working day. 

 

C. After normal business hours: 

1. In accordance with the NIHD Purchasing and Signature Authority policy: 

- The Administrator-on-Call (AOC) may approve emergency purchases up to $10,000. 

- For purchases over $25,000, a Chief Officer must be consulted for approval. 

- For purchases over $40,000, CEO approval is required. 

This ensures that all emergency purchases remain compliant with current approval thresholds. 

2. The individual who identifies the emergent need will contact the Administrator-on-Call (AOC) 

to receive authorization for the emergency purchase. 

3. The individual will arrange for the purchase and delivery. 

4. The individual is responsible for getting the properly signed requisition, packing slip/delivery 

ticket, as well as any information about the purchase (as noted below), to purchasing as soon as 

possible.  At no time should this exceed one working day. 

5. Purchasing will assign a purchase order number and contact the supplier to inform them of the 

number for invoicing purposes. 

Page 52 of 124



 

Page 2 of 2 
Emergency Purchases 

 

D. When the customer arranges for the purchase he or she must get the following information and include it 

on the confirming requisition. 

1. Date and time placed; 

2. Approved Supplier representative who accepted the order; 

a. Suppliers not on approved NIHD list, must be verified (via the link below) is not on the 

excluded list.  https://exclusions.oig.hhs.gov/ 

3. Quantity, description and, if possible, catalog number of item(s) ordered; 

4. Price for the item(s) and; 

5. If after hours, the name of the administrator who approved the purchase. 

 

RECORD RETENTION AND DESTRUCTION: 

Invoices documenting purchase or lease of clinical laboratory equipment and test kits, reagents, or media will be 

maintained for 15 years. 

Invoices on fixed assets, equipment will be maintained for the life of asset or equipment, plus 15 years. 
 

CROSS REFERENCE POLICIES AND PROCEDURES: 

1. Purchasing and Signature Authority 

2. Asset Control 

3. Delivery of Received Goods 

4. Receiving Documentation 

5. Vendor Credentialing 
 

Supersedes: v.2 Emergency Purchases 

 

Page 53 of 124

https://exclusions.oig.hhs.gov/


 

1 

Employee Health NIHD Workforce Onboarding 

NORTHERN INYO HEALTHCARE DISTRICT 

CLINICAL POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

 

 

 

Title: Employee Health NIHD Workforce Onboarding Policy 

Owner: Manager Employee Health & Infection 

Control 

Department: Infection Prevention  

Scope:  District Wide 

Date Last Modified: 08/28/2025 Last Review Date: No Review 

Date  

Version: 5 

Final Approval by: NIHD Board of Directors  Original Approval Date: 09/18/2019 

 

PURPOSE:  

Health Screening for the Northern Inyo Healthcare District (NIHD) workforce occurs to ensure the worker is 

meeting regulatory requirements to ensure a safe working environment. NIHD Employee Health reduces the 

risk of infection and the spread of vaccine-preventable diseases by educating, offering, and providing specific 

recommended vaccines, lab titers and Tuberculosis (TB) screening to all NIHD workforce throughout the 

working relationship.   

 

POLICY: 

1. The scope of this policy, unless otherwise noted, applies to all Northern Inyo Healthcare District 

(NIHD) Workforce.  

2. All vaccination and TB monitoring policies will be consistent with federal, state, and local guidelines.  

Recommendations and requirements within this policy are in accordance with the: 

 United States Center for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) guidelines for Immunization of 

Health-Care Personnel 

 California Division of Occupational Safety and Health Association (CAL/OSHA) 

 California Department of Public Health (CDPH) 

 Inyo County Public Health Officer 

3. The NIHD Workforce Health Screening is arranged by the Employee Health (EH) Department, in 

collaboration with, Human Resources (HR), Medical Staff Administration, the Rural Health Clinic 

(RHC), and Department Leadership.  

4. The Workforce Health Screening begins after the Health Care Worker (HCW) has accepted a position 

and their background check has cleared, per Human Resource (HR) policies. 

5. Immunization monitoring and TB screening is an ongoing process that continues throughout the 

working relationship.  

 

DEFINITIONS 

1. Employee: NIHD payroll employee 

2. Workforce or Health Care Personnel (HCP): A population of healthcare workers working in a 

healthcare setting. HCP might include (but are not limited to), licensed practitioners, nurses, nursing 

assistants, therapists, technicians, emergency medical service personnel, dental personnel, pharmacists, 

laboratory personnel, students and trainees, contractual staff not employed by the healthcare facility, and 

persons (e.g., clerical, dietary, housekeeping, maintenance, and volunteers) not directly involved in 

patient care but potentially exposed to infectious agents that can be transmitted to and from HCP. HCP 

includes students, trainees, and volunteers.  

Page 54 of 124



 

2 

Employee Health NIHD Workforce Onboarding 

3. Health Care Worker (HCW): Healthcare Worker is the singular form of healthcare personnel.  

4. Licensed Practitioner (LP): Per CDPH, a practitioner that provides a medical level of care such as, 

Doctor of Medicine (MD), Doctor of Osteopathic Medicine (DO), Doctor of Dental Surgery (DDS), 

Doctor of Podiatric medicine (DPM), Nurse Practitioner (NP), Certified Nurse Midwife (CNM), 

Certified Registered Nurse Anesthetist (CRNA), and Physician Assistant (PA). 

5. Volunteer (i.e. Auxiliary and Drivers): Active members that are in contact with patients and their 

families on campus. 

6. Student:  
a. Clinical or Academic Rotations: This includes any learning role that involves physical patient 

contact, ie NP, PA, Licensed Vocational Nurse (LVN), Medical Student, Medical Intern, 

Phlebotomist, and other trainees.  

b. Learning Internships and Career Shadowing are intended to be observations only that do not 

involve direct patient care. If any direct patient care is included in these rotations: they will 

follow the Clinical or Academic Rotation Employee Health Requirements. 

7. Rapid Onboarding of a Contracted HCW Onboarding of a workforce member in 21 days or less, 

utilizing a rapid onboarding checklist. Human Resources will notify Employee Health of this status. 
8. Health Screening: Depending on job role as defined in the Workforce Onboarding Summary Tables, 

elements may include Health History and Physical Exam, Drug Screen, TB test, TB Questionnaire, 

Vaccines (MMR, Varicella, Tdap, Hepatitis B, Influenza, Meningococcal ACWY and B), OSHA 

Respirator Medical Evaluation Questionnaire with Fit Test 

9. New Hire Health History and Physical Exam  
If required for job role, will be completed prior to start date. 

The New Hire Health History and Physical Exam includes documentation of the following: 

i. Health History 

ii. Infectious Disease Exposure Screening 

iii. Physical Exam  

iv. Allergies including latex  

v. Whisper test or Audiometry  

*Audiometry is required if failed whisper test.  

*Failed Audiometry requires a referral to Audiologist 

vi. Vision Test: Visual Acuity with correction if applicable 

vii. Color vision: Ishihara 14 plates with color failure identification, passing score is 12/14. Online 

test accepted. 

vii. OSHA Respirator Medical Evaluation Questionnaire (as required per job role for fit testing: see 

Aerosolized Transmissible Disease Exposure/Respiratory Protection Plan) 

 

PROCEDURE: 

1. To clear a new HCW, collaboration is required between EH, Registration, Lab, Rural Health Clinic, HR, 

and Medical Staff Departments to plan and schedule appointments prior to the start date, as required for 

their specific role.  

2. Human Resources and Medical Staff Administration will provide EH with names, date of birth, and 

contact information of all new workers who have signed an NIHD contract, or other agreement, when 

their background checks have cleared. Health screening requirements will be initiated by EH prior to the 

start date, informing the new worker of the health requirements, and guide the new worker on how to 

locate their historical vaccine and lab reports.  

3. Employee Health will review the History and Physical for completion of required components, review 

and provide immunizations, order and review lab results, schedule needed follow up, and provide the 

initial fit test as required for their role. 

Page 55 of 124



 

3 

Employee Health NIHD Workforce Onboarding 

4. EH will email HR or Medical Staff Administration when the worker is cleared.   

5. If the worker does not meet Physical Requirements, as determined by the provider, Employee Health 

will inform HR. HR will arrange an accommodation meeting with the manager and other key 

stakeholders. HR will contact the worker with the outcome plan. 

6. Historical vaccine and lab documentation requirements:  

a. All records require Name and Date of Birth 

b. All lab results (ie titers and QFT/Tspot) also require reference range and collection date. 

c. Positive/negative/equivocal/grey-zone are sufficient, a numeric value result is not necessary. 

Equivocal or grey-zone is interpreted as non-immune. 

d. TB documentation of TST must include placement and result with date/time. 

7. Refer to WORKFORCE ONBOARDING SUMMARY TABLES in attachments. Reference this 

policy for details. 

a. Table A: NIHD Payroll Employees  

b. Table B: Contracted Licensed Practitioners 

c. Table C: Contracted Workforce  

d. Table D: Students and Volunteers 

8. Returning HCW less than 6 months from separation 

a. Employee Health staff will review prior Health History and Physical, immunization records, TB 

screening, and fit testing to ensure the worker meets currents requirements for their new position.  

b. If new TB Risk Factors or Symptoms are identified, the HCW will complete a new TB screening test 

within 5 days of return. 

c. If any requirement has expired, it will be completed and brought into compliance, prior to or within 

first week of employment, return, or change.  

9. Drug Screen 

If required by a vendor or contracted workforce, per their company policy. 

10. Tuberculosis (TB) Screening 

a. TB Screening includes completion of a TB and a Risk and Symptom Screening Questionnaire and 

testing and is required of all NIHD workforce who will be on the NIHD campus at any time. 

b. TB blood tests, QuantiFERON Gold (QFT) or T-Spot, are the preferred tests for people who have 

received the BCG TB vaccine, as TB blood tests are not affected by the BCG vaccination. An initial 

baseline TB blood test is preferred as the most efficient and accurate initial documentation regardless 

of BCG vaccine or past Tuberculin Skin Test (TST) positive result.  A TST is an alternative option if 

the worker has not had a BCG vaccine.   

c. NIHD will accept documentation of a QFT, T-Spot, or  TST, and the NIHD TB Risk and Symptom 

Screening Questionnaire on this timeline:   

i. Employees of NIHD: will be tested during the Employee Health onboarding process.  

Employees that are 100% remote, never on site, are exempt. Employees returning less than 6 

months will complete an NIHD TB Risk and Symptom Questionnaire; any changes will be 

evaluated for a repeat QFT to be drawn upon start date.   

ii. Contracted Licensed Practitioner: Will be tested upon start date. The QFT will be ordered by 

Employee Health and scheduled by Medical Staff Office.  

iii. Contracted workers: test results are accepted within 90 days of start date. 100% remote 

contracted workers are exempt. 

iv. Students in Clinical or Academic Rotations: Documentation of TB test results within 12 

months of rotation start date.  Students will complete an NIHD TB Risk and Symptom Screening 

Questionnaire prior to start date; if new Risks Factors or Symptoms are identified, the student 

will complete a new TB test prior to start date.  

Page 56 of 124



 

4 

Employee Health NIHD Workforce Onboarding 

v. Students in Learning Internships and Career Shadowing are intended to be observations only 

that do not involve direct patient care. They are exempt from TB testing. If any direct patient 

care is included in these rotations: they will follow the Clinical or Academic Rotation Employee 

Health Requirements. 

vi. Volunteers: Test and Questionnaire prior to start date. 

d. TB Risk Assessment Questionnaire 

i. If yes to any new risk factor on the TB Questionnaire, TB testing is required. 

e. TB Positive Test Results  

i. If a QFT results a positive result, a second QFT will be ordered and drawn.  

ii. If a TST results an induration of 5mm or greater, a QFT will be ordered. 

iii. If the second test is negative it is no longer considered a conversion if there are no risk factors or 

symptoms.  

iv. If the second test result is positive, the Employee Health Nurse will order an R/O TB Chest x-ray 

(CXR).  

v. There is no restriction on employment for healthy personnel with a positive TB test and 

documented negative CXR, with or without treatment. The worker will be educated about latent 

TB the importance of follow-up and treatment.  Copies of the two test results, CXR report, and 

the Risk and Symptom Screening Questionnaire will be provided to the worker to take to their 

provider.  The Employee Health Nurse will send a completed TB California Confidential 

Morbidity Report (CMR) to the Inyo County Public Health.  

vi. Individuals with indications of active disease should not work. This will be determined, among 

Inyo County Public Health, Human Resources, Employee Health, and the NIHD Medical 

Director. 

f. New workforce with a history of a positive TB test.  

i. Complete a Risk and Symptom Screening Questionnaire upon start date and annually.  

ii. Submit documentation of a positive blood test If a TB blood test is not documented, it will be 

drawn to confirm positivity, and determine serial monitoring method (testing every 2 years or 

questionnaire annually). 

iii. Chest-x-ray < 90 days prior to start date.   

iv. If the worker has not been treated for latent TB, the Employee Health Nurse will educate on 

latent TB and the importance of follow up care with primary care. Follow up care is encouraged 

and at the discretion of the worker.  

11. Employee Health Immunizations and Titer Guidelines 

a. EH vaccine screening, monitoring and administering is limited to the following: Influenza, MMR, 

Varicella, Tdap, Hepatitis B, Meningococcal ACWY, Meningococcal B, and QFT or TB Skin Tests. 

If the worker requests other vaccinations, they will be directed to contact their primary care 

practitioner. 

b. Employee Health Standing Orders for Vaccine administration to workers are based on the 

CDC/ACIP Recommendations retrieved from www.immunize.org.  The orders will be approved by 

the Employee Health Medical Director annually and as needed using the CDC/ACIP order 

templates.  The signed Standing Orders will be available in the Employee Health Office. 

c. A signed consent with screening questionnaire will be completed for all immunizations.  

d. If the worker declines an EH vaccine, a declination must be signed. 

e. All workforce that will be on campus even one day, regardless of role, is required to follow current 

guidelines for Flu and Covid-19 vaccinations as determined by Inyo County Public Health and 

California Department of Public Health. 

f. Qualitative IgG results:  

i. Positive/negative/equivocal/ grey-zone are sufficient, a numeric value result is not necessary. 

Page 57 of 124



 

5 

Employee Health NIHD Workforce Onboarding 

ii. Equivocal or grey-zone is interpreted as non-immune. 

g. Influenza  
i. Applies to all NIHD workforce on campus, even one day, during the influenza season. 

ii. Annually, during each flu season, one dose of influenza vaccine is required or a signed 

declination, as declared annually by the Inyo County Public Health Officer. 

iii. Refer to Health Care Worker (HCW) Influenza Vaccination policy and procedure. 

h. Covid-19 

i. Documentation and vaccine as required by federal, state, or local agencies. Employee Health will 

make attempt collect COVID-19 vaccination data on all NIHD workforce for required regulatory 

reporting.  
iv. Employees will be instructed where they can obtain COVID-19 vaccine if wanted. 

i. Measles (Rubeola), Mumps, Rubella (MMR)   

i. Documentation of 2 MMR vaccines, minimum of 28 days apart, or positive qualitative IgG titer 

results for each, anytime in the past.  

ii. Documented receipt of 2 doses of MMR vaccines supersedes results of subsequent serologic 

testing. Therefore, serologic testing for immunity is not necessary for persons who have received 

2 doses of MMR vaccine (ACIP).  

iii. If immunity or vaccination history is undocumented or incomplete, an IgG titer will be drawn for 

rubella, rubeola, and mumps:  

a. Immunity for Measles and Mumps requires a total of 2 documented MMR Vaccines. 

b. Immunity for Rubella requires only 1 documented MMR Vaccine. 

iv. Vaccination after titers: 

a. If the measles or mumps titer result is non-immune or equivocal or grey-zone and the worker 

has only one documented MMR, offer one additional MMR. 

b. If the measles or mumps titer is non-immune immune, equivocal, or grey-zone and the 

worker has no documented MMR, offer two MMR’s.   

c. If the rubella titer is non-immune, equivocal, or grey-zone and the worker has no documented 

MMR, then offer only one MMR. 

d. If the rubella titer is non-immune, equivocal, or grey-zone and the worker has one 

documented MMR, no additional vaccine is required.   

e. Repeat testing is not needed after vaccination. 

j. Varicella (chickenpox)   
i. Documentation of 2 varicella vaccines, minimum 28 days apart, OR positive qualitative IgG titer 

results anytime in the past. Only doses of varicella vaccines for which written documentation of the 

date of administration is presented should be considered valid.  
ii. Documented receipt of 2 doses of varicella vaccines supersedes results of subsequent serologic 

testing. Therefore, serologic testing for immunity is not necessary for persons who have received 

2 doses of varicella vaccine (ACIP).  

a. Documented history of disease alone does not guarantee immunity. NIHD requires an IgG 

Varicella titer.  

iii. If immunity or vaccination history is undocumented or incomplete, an IgG titer will be drawn for 

varicella. If the titer testing is non-immune  equivocal, or grey-zone, the worker will be offered a 

total of two varicella vaccines.  Repeat testing is not needed after vaccination.  

k. Tetanus, diphtheria, pertussis (Tdap) 
i. All HCPs who have not or are unsure if they have previously received a dose of Tdap should 

receive a dose of Tdap as soon as feasible, without regard to the interval since the previous dose 

of Td. Pregnant HCPs should be revaccinated during each pregnancy, if approved by provider. 

All HCPs should then receive Td or Tdap boosters every 10 years thereafter. NIHD Employee 

Health only offers Tdap. 

Page 58 of 124



 

6 

Employee Health NIHD Workforce Onboarding 

l. Meningococcal   

i. Two types of Meningococcal vaccines are recommended only for microbiologists and lab 

personnel potentially plating Neisseria Meningitides.  

ii. A single dose of Quadrivalent (serogroup ACWY) meningococcal conjugate vaccine (Menveo or 

Menactra) with a booster dose every 5 years, if exposure is ongoing. This includes workers over 

the age of 55. 

iii. Serogroup B vaccine series of Bexsero (2 doses) or Trumenba (3 doses).   Booster doses are 

recommended every 2-3 years as long as risk continues. 

m. Hepatitis B   
i. Required by Cal/OSHA and CDPH. 

ii. Applies to NIHD HCW’s who will be working in these departments/roles:  

 Activities Director  

 Patient Access Department 

 Biomedical 

 Case Management 

 Central Sterile Processing 

 Diagnostic Imaging Techs and Radiologists  

 Dietary 

 Environmental Services 

 Cardiopulmonary Department  

 Compliance, Laboratory  

 Language Services  

 Laundry 

 Surgical Tech’s  

 Maintenance/Plant Operations  

 Nursing Staff (RN, LVN, MA, CNA)   

 Pharmacy 

 Physical Therapy  

 Occupational Therapy  

 Security 

 Social Services 

 Licensed Practitioners 

 Any additional roles that will require a worker to enter patient rooms.  

iii. Documentation of a complete series of Hepatitis B vaccines followed by a Hepatitis B Surface 

Antibody (HBs Ab) IgG Titer is the greatest assurance of immunity to Hepatitis B.  

iv. NIHD will assist the employee to attempt to obtain prior Hepatitis B vaccine documentation. 

Historical laboratory documentation of a qualitative reactive Hepatitis B surface antibody (HBs-

Ab) titer is accepted following a complete Hepatitis B vaccine series. Lab results will include 

reference range. If documentation of a complete series is lacking, CDC recommends to complete 

the series of Hepatitis B vaccines if records cannot be located. A titer alone will not be 

drawn/accepted as evidence of immunity unless there is documentation of a full series of 

Hepatitis B vaccines. This is because, anti-HBs has only been deemed a correlate of protection 

when following a complete series.    

v. For manufacturer interchangeability, dosing schedule, and revaccination for non-immune HBs 

Ab titer (< 10mIU/ml) reference NIHD Employee Health Standing Orders for Administering 

Hepatitis B Vaccine to Adults in the Employee Health Office. Post vaccination serologic testing 

Page 59 of 124



 

7 

Employee Health NIHD Workforce Onboarding 

should be completed using a method that allows determination of the protective level of anti-HBs 

(≥10 IU/mL). 

vi. If the Hepatitis B vaccine series is only partially documented, it is not necessary to restart the 

series because of an extended interval between doses, no matter how long; just complete the 

series. Heplisav is approved to complete the initial series of 3 vaccines regardless of initial 

dosing manufacturer. Once there is a complete series of documented Hepatitis B vaccines, ensure 

follow up testing for a reactive HBs Ab is documented post-final vaccination.  

vii. If the titer is negative after one complete series, a second series will be started. NIHD will 

provide one Heplisav dose followed by a HBs Ab test in 6 weeks.  If the worker remains 

nonreactive (< 10), provide the second dose of Heplisav followed by a final HBs Ab test in 6 

weeks. This completes the second series and conversion is anticipated when Heplisav is used.  

viii. For workers that were historically considered non-reactive/non-converting after 2 complete 

series of Engerix (6 doses) should be offered a complete 2 dose series of Heplisav followed by 

HBs Ab testing 6 weeks after the second dose. There is a high probability of conversion with 

Heplisav in those that never responded to Engerix. 

ix. Cal OSHA requires healthcare facilities to offer Hepatitis B vaccine within 10 days of hire.  

x. Cal OSHA requires a signed declination should the worker decide against Hepatitis B 

vaccination. See NIHD Employee Health Hepatitis B Vaccine Declination form. 

12. VACCINE DECLINATIONS 

a. NIHD strives to ensure the safety of our patients and workers through vaccinations. Should a worker 

decline any of the required vaccines a declination shall be signed for each vaccine, which 

acknowledges an awareness of risk.  

b. Any NIHD employee or LP that declines vaccines may change their mind and receive vaccine(s) 

free of charge through the Employee Health Department later.  

13. COSTS 

a. Employee Health required exams, immunizations, lab titers, and TB testing, Chest-x-ray to rule out 

TB, is offered at no cost to NIHD employees, LP’s, and volunteers.. 

b. Contracted workers and all students will need to meet their employee health requirements through a 

primary health care provider at their cost.  

c. Annual influenza immunization is offered to all NIHD workforce during influenza season at no cost.  

14. DOCUMENTATION  

Documentation related to employee health requirements will be kept in the Employee Health files and 

electronic database.  

 

REFERENCES: 

1. California Department of Public health (February 2025)  Immunization Recommendations for California 

Healthcare Personnel. Retrieved from 

https://www.cdph.ca.gov/Programs/CID/DCDC/CDPH%20Document%20Library/Immunization/HCWI

ZRecs.pdf 4/29/25. 

2. California Hospital Association. (2018). Record and Data Retention Schedule. 

https://calhospital.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/11/recordretention2018_epubapp.pdf  

3. CAL/OSHA. Title 8 Regulations. Section 5199. Aerosol Transmissible Diseases. 

https://www.dir.ca.gov/title8/5199.html  

4. CAL/OSHA, Title 8 Regulations. Section 5193. Bloodborne Pathogens. 

https://www.dir.ca.gov/title8/5193.html  

5. California Tuberculosis Controllers Association (January 2025). Guidance for TB Screening, Testing 

and Treatment of HealthCare Personnel.  Retrieved from https://ctca.org/wp-

content/uploads/GHCPS02_14_2025.pdf  on 4/10/25. 

Page 60 of 124

https://www.cdph.ca.gov/Programs/CID/DCDC/CDPH%20Document%20Library/Immunization/HCWIZRecs.pdf
https://www.cdph.ca.gov/Programs/CID/DCDC/CDPH%20Document%20Library/Immunization/HCWIZRecs.pdf
https://calhospital.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/11/recordretention2018_epubapp.pdf
https://www.dir.ca.gov/title8/5199.html
https://www.dir.ca.gov/title8/5193.html
https://ctca.org/wp-content/uploads/GHCPS02_14_2025.pdf
https://ctca.org/wp-content/uploads/GHCPS02_14_2025.pdf


 

8 

Employee Health NIHD Workforce Onboarding 

6. California TB Controllers Association (2025). Health Care Personnel TB Screening Resources 

https://ctca.org/guidelines/healthcarepersonnel/ Retrieved 4/10/25. 

7. Center for Disease Control (CDC). Healthcare Personnel Vaccination Recommendations. Retrieved 

from https://www.immunize.org/wp-content/uploads/catg.d/p2017.pdf  6/4/25. 

8. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Recommended Adult Immunization Schedule. United 

States, 2025. https://www.cdc.gov/vaccines/hcp/imz-schedules/downloads/adult/adult-combined-

schedule.pdf 

9. Center for Disease Control (2000). Use of Standing Orders Programs to Increase Adult Vaccination 

Rates: Recommendations of the ACIP. MMWR 2000/49 (No. RR-01); 15-26. 

https://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/preview/mmwrhtml/rr4901a2.htm  

10. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (2013). CDC Guidance for Evaluating Health-Care 

Personnel for Hepatitis B Virus Protection and for Administering Post exposure Management. MMWR 

December 20, 2013; Vol 62 (No.RR10).  https://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/pdf/rr/rr6210.pdf 

11. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (2022). Universal Hepatitis B Vaccination in Adults Aged 

19-59: Updated Recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices.  MMWR 

April 1, 2022; Vol 71 (No.RR-13). https://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/volumes/71/wr/pdfs/mm7113a1-H.pdf 

12. Center for Disease Control and Prevention. Ask the Experts Hepatitis B for Health Care Personnel 

(1/17/25). https://www.immunize.org/ask-experts/topic/hepb/healthcare-personnel/ 

13. SchilleS, Harris A, Link-Gelles R, Romero J, Ward J, Nelson N. Recommendations of the Advisory 

Committee on Immunization Practices for Use of a Hepatitis B Vaccine with a Novel Adjuvant. MMWR 

Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2018-67; 455-458. https://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/volumes/67/wr/mm6715a5.htm. 

14. OSHA Fact Sheet (2011). Hepatitis B Vaccination Protection. 

https://www.osha.gov/sites/default/files/publications/bbfact05.pdf  

15. OSHA, Standard Number 1910.1030 App A - Hepatitis B Vaccine Declination (Mandatory) 

https://www.osha.gov/laws-regs/regulations/standardnumber/1910/1910.1030AppA  

16. California Department of Public Health (January 2020). Immunization and Immunity Testing 

Recommendations for California Personnel and Health Science Students. 

https://www.cdph.ca.gov/Programs/CID/DCDC/CDPH%20Document%20Library/Immunization/HCWI

ZRecs.pdf  

17. Meningococcal B Vaccine Recommendations by Age and Risk Factor. Retrieved 9/4/24 from 

www.immunize.org/catg.d/p2035.pdf Item #P2035 (3/12/24) 

18. Patient Safety & Quality Healthcare (PSQH). 2022. Joint Commission Eliminates Use of "Licensed 

Independent Practitioner.' Retrieved from https://www.psqh.com/news/joint-commission-eliminates-use-

of-licensed-independent-practitioner/ 

19. Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA). Site Accessed 6/3/2025. Biological Hazards-

Infectious Diseases>> Hepatitis B Declination Statement. Retrieved from 

https://www.osha.gov/etools/hospitals/hospital-wide-hazards/biological-hazards/declination 

 

RECORD RETENTION AND DESTRUCTION: 

Employee Health Records will be maintained for 30 years after separation.  

 

CROSS REFERENCED POLICIES AND PROCEDURES: 

1. Health Care Worker (HCW) Influenza Vaccination 

2. Employee Health NIHD Workforce Tuberculosis Surveillance Program 

3. Aerosolized Transmissible Disease Exposure Plan/Respiratory Protection Program 

4. Bloodborne Pathogen Exposure Control Plan 

5. Learning Internships, Clinical or Academic Rotations, and Career Shadowing Opportunities 

Supersedes: v.4 Employee Health NIHD Workforce Onboarding 

Page 61 of 124

https://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/preview/mmwrhtml/rr4901a2.htm
https://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/pdf/rr/rr6210.pdf
https://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/volumes/71/wr/pdfs/mm7113a1-H.pdf
https://www.immunize.org/ask-experts/topic/hepb/healthcare-personnel/
https://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/volumes/67/wr/mm6715a5.htm
https://www.osha.gov/sites/default/files/publications/bbfact05.pdf
https://www.osha.gov/laws-regs/regulations/standardnumber/1910/1910.1030AppA
https://www.cdph.ca.gov/Programs/CID/DCDC/CDPH%20Document%20Library/Immunization/HCWIZRecs.pdf
https://www.cdph.ca.gov/Programs/CID/DCDC/CDPH%20Document%20Library/Immunization/HCWIZRecs.pdf
http://www.immunize.org/catg.d/p2035.pdf
https://www.psqh.com/news/joint-commission-eliminates-use-of-licensed-independent-practitioner/
https://www.psqh.com/news/joint-commission-eliminates-use-of-licensed-independent-practitioner/
https://www.osha.gov/etools/hospitals/hospital-wide-hazards/biological-hazards/declination
https://nihd.policytech.com/docview/?docid=7575


 

9 

Employee Health NIHD Workforce Onboarding 

 

Page 62 of 124



 

1 
Standardized Procedure – Minor Surgical Procedures Policy for the Nurse Practitioner or Certified Nurse Midwife 

 

 

NORTHERN INYO HEALTHCARE DISTRICT 

CLINICAL STANDARDIZED PROCEDURE 

 

 

Title: Standardized Procedure – Minor Surgical Procedures Policy for the Nurse Practitioner or 

Certified Nurse Midwife 

Owner: Medical Staff Director Department: Medical Staff 

Scope: Nurse Practitioner, Certified Nurse Midwife 

Date Last Modified: 08/06/2025 Last Review Date: No Review 

Date 

Version: 5 

Final Approval by: NIHD Board of Directors  Original Approval Date: 02/20/2019 

 

PURPOSE:  

This standardized procedure developed for the use by the Nurse Practitioner (NP) and the Certified Nurse 

Midwife (CNM) is designed to establish guidelines that will allow the NP or CNM to manage minor surgical 

procedures. 

POLICY: 

1. This standardized procedure and those authorized to work through this standardized procedure will meet 

all guidelines as outlined in the General Policy for the Nurse Practitioner or Certified Nurse Midwife. 

2. This standardized procedure is designed to establish guidelines that will allow NP and CNM to perform 

minor surgical procedures incidental to the provision of routine primary care to ambulatory patients 

presenting to the listed settings. 

3. Circumstances: 

a. Patient population:  neonates, pediatrics, adults and geriatrics – as appropriate for specialty. 

b. Settings:  Northern Inyo Healthcare District (NIHD) and affiliated locations 

c. Supervision: Physicians indicated in the supervisory agreements for the NP or CNM. 

PROCEDURE: 

1. Conditions 

a. After appropriate training and experience (which includes a minimum of 5 proctored procedures 

each by a supervising physician), minor surgical procedures that can be performed by the NP or 

CNM without direct physician supervision include: 

i. Pessary placement 

ii. Electrocautery of external, non-malignant lesions, e.g. warts 

iii. Epidermal cyst removal  

iv. Incision and drainage of abscess (excluding peri-rectal abscesses) 

v. Suture laceration without nerve or tendon involvement 

vi. Mole removal (non-facial) 

vii. Punch or shave biopsy 

viii. Toe nail removal 

ix. Cryotherapy 

x. IUD insertion and removal 

xi. Excision of simple lesions 

Page 63 of 124



 

2 
Standardized Procedure – Minor Surgical Procedures Policy for the Nurse Practitioner or Certified Nurse Midwife 

xii. Simple foreign body removal 

xiii. Endometrial biopsy 

xiv. Arthrocentesis/Steroid joint injection 

xv. Excision of hemorrhoid thrombus 

xvi. Nexplanon insertion/removal 

xvii. Circumcision of newborn 

xviii. Insertion of implantable loop recorder 

2. Data Base 

a. Subjective 

i. Obtain pertinent history including involved organ system, injury, trauma, dermatology 

problems, etc. 

ii. Obtain information regarding review of system, risk taking behaviors, prior surgery, 

allergies, and immunizations. 

b. Objective 

i. Perform physical examination pertinent to assessment of the problem. 

ii. Collect appropriate diagnostic/radiological studies. 

c. Assessment 

i. Formulate diagnosis consistent with the above data base. 

d. Plan 

i. Develop therapeutic regimen 

ii. Provide informed consent.  Utilize universal protocol “Time Out” prior to all invasive 

procedures. 

iii. Perform appropriate procedure utilizing standard aseptic technique. 

iv. Obtain additional diagnostic studies as indicated. 

v. Physician consultation/assistance in performing the procedure as per policy statement or 

above conditions. 

vi. Patient education and self-care techniques. 

vii. Development of appropriate follow-up care plan. 

viii. Update problem list. 

 

REFERENCES:  

1.  (2021) Title 16, California Code of Regulations, Section 1474. Standardized Procedure Guidelines. 

 

RECORD RETENTION AND DESTRUCTION: 

1. Life of policy, plus 6 years. 

 

Supersedes: v.4 Standardized Procedure – Minor Surgical Procedures Policy for the Nurse 

Practitioner or Certified Nurse Midwife 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 64 of 124



 

3 
Standardized Procedure – Minor Surgical Procedures Policy for the Nurse Practitioner or Certified Nurse Midwife 

 

APPROVALS 

 

 

_______________________________________ __________________________  

Chair, Interdisciplinary Practice Committee  Date 

 

 

_______________________________________ __________________________ 

Administrator      Date 

 

 

_______________________________________  __________________________ 

Chief of Staff      Date 

 

 

_______________________________________ __________________________ 

Chair, Board of Directors    Date 

 

 

  

Page 65 of 124



 

4 
Standardized Procedure – Minor Surgical Procedures Policy for the Nurse Practitioner or Certified Nurse Midwife 

ATTACHMENT 1 – LIST OF AUTHORIZED NP’s or CNM’s 

 

 

1. _______________________________________              __________________________   

NAME                DATE 

 

2. _______________________________________              __________________________   

NAME                DATE 

 

3. _______________________________________              __________________________   

NAME                DATE 

 

4. _______________________________________              __________________________   

NAME                DATE 

 

5. _______________________________________              __________________________   

NAME                DATE 

 

6. _______________________________________              __________________________  

NAME                DATE 

 

7. _______________________________________              __________________________   

NAME                DATE 

 

8. _______________________________________              __________________________   

NAME                DATE 

 

9. _______________________________________              __________________________   

NAME                DATE 

 

10. _______________________________________              __________________________   

NAME                DATE 

 

 

 

Page 66 of 124



 

1 
Tuberculosis Exposure Control Plan 

NORTHERN INYO HEALTHCARE DISTRICT 

ANNUAL PLAN 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

  
 

PURPOSE:  
The purpose of this policy is to provide guidance for the comprehensive management of a patient with 
suspected or confirmed tuberculosis (TB) and, in doing so, prevent the acquisition of healthcare-
associated TB infection and occupational exposure to Northern Inyo Healthcare District (NIHD) 
patients, visitors, and workforce.  Note: For NIHD workforce occupational screening and TB 
surveillance program refer to policy titled Employee Health NIHD Workforce Tuberculosis 
Surveillance Program.   

 
RATIONALE:  
In healthcare settings, particularly those in which people are at high risk for exposure to TB, policies 
and procedures for TB control are developed, reviewed annually, and evaluated for effectiveness to 
determine the actions necessary to minimize the risk for transmission of TB. The TB infection control 
program is based on a three-level hierarchy of control measures:  

1. Administrative measures  
2. Environmental controls  
3. Use of respiratory protective equipment  

By ensuring that the control program is correctly applied, the rate of healthcare-acquired TB is 
reduced.  

DEFINITIONS:  
1. Acid-fast bacilli (AFB): A physical property of certain bacteria, specifically their resistance to 

decolorization by acids during staining procedures. Mycobacterium tuberculosis is identified 
through such staining techniques.  

2. Active tuberculosis: A serious bacterial infection that occurs when Tuberculosis germs multiply 
and grow in the body. Active TB is contagious and can be spread through the air. 

3. Administrative controls: Management measures that are intended to reduce the risk of 
exposure to persons with infectious TB. Examples include leadership oversight, responsibility, 
policies, and procedures.  

4. Air exchanges per hour (ACHs): A measure of how many times the air within a defined space 
is replaced with new air.  

Title:  Tuberculosis Exposure Control Plan 
Owner: Manager Employee Health & 
Infection Control 

Department: Infection Prevention 

Scope: District Wide 
Date Last Modified: 
08/28/2025 

Last Review Date: No 
Review Date 08/05/2021 

Version: 7 

Final Approval by: NIHD Board of Directors  Original Approval Date: 09/01/2007 

Page 67 of 124



 

2 
Tuberculosis Exposure Control Plan 

5. Airborne infection isolation room (AIIR): A single-patient room that is equipped with special 
air-handling and ventilation capacity that meets the Facility Guidelines Institute’s (FGI’s) 
standards for AIIRs (i.e., monitored negative pressure relative to the surrounding area, 12 ACHs 
for new construction and renovation, and 6 ACHs for existing facilities; air exhausted directly to 
the outside or recirculated through HEPA filtration before return). For the room to function 
properly, all doors and windows must be kept closed except when someone is entering or 
exiting. The room may or may not have an adjoining anteroom.  

6. Airborne Precautions (or airborne isolation): A type of precaution as defined by the Centers 
for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) to prevent transmission of infectious agents that 
remain infectious over long distances when suspended in the air (e.g., rubeola virus [measles], 
varicella virus [chickenpox], Mycobacterium tuberculosis).   

7. Bacille Calmette-Guérin (BCG): A vaccine against tuberculosis that is prepared from a strain 
of the attenuated (weakened) live bovine tuberculosis bacillus, Mycobacterium bovis. Many 
people born outside of the United States have received BCG. When people who were previously 
vaccinated with BCG receive a tuberculin skin test to test for TB infection, they may have a 
false positive reaction. A positive reaction to a tuberculin skin test may be due to the BCG 
vaccine itself or due to infection with TB bacteria. Although tuberculin skin testing (TST) 
is not contraindicated for persons who have been vaccinated with BCG, tuberculin blood tests 
are the preferred method of TB testing for people who have received the BCG vaccine.  

8. Directly observed therapy (DOT): A therapy protocol in which a trained healthcare worker or 
other designated individual providing the prescribed TB drugs observes that the patient 
swallows every dose. DOT promotes adherence to the treatment regimen through visual 
observation of medication administration.  

9. Environmental controls: A design feature that limits the risk of on-the-job injury. Examples 
include AIIR and HEPA filtration.  

10. Extensively drug-resistant tuberculosis (XDR TB): A rare type of multidrug-resistant 
tuberculosis that is resistant to isoniazid and rifampin, plus any fluoroquinolone and at least one 
of three injectable second-line drugs (i.e., amikacin, kanamycin, or capreomycin).   

11. Healthcare personnel (WORKFORCE): Includes licensed independent practitioners (LIPs), 
nurses, students, emergency medical technicians, phlebotomists, laboratory workers, and 
ancillary or support staff.  

12. Interferon-gamma release assay (IGRA): Blood tests that can aid in the diagnosis 
of Mycobacterium tuberculosis. IGRA is also used as a screening test for the presence of latent 
TB infection.  

13. Latent tuberculosis infection (LTBI): The presence of Mycobacterium tuberculosis in the body 
without signs and symptoms, or radiographic or bacteriologic evidence of TB disease. Patients 
with LTBI are not infectious.  

14. Multidrug-resistant Mycobacterium tuberculosis (MDR TB): An organism that is resistant to 
at least isoniazid and rifampin, the two most potent TB drugs. These drugs are used to treat all 
persons with TB disease.  

15. Mycobacterium other than tuberculosis (MOTT): Mycobacterium species that may cause 
human disease but do not cause tuberculosis.  

16. National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health (NIOSH): The U.S. federal agency 
within the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention that conducts research and makes 
recommendations to prevent worker injury and illness.  

17. N95 particulate respirator: The most common type of particulate-filtering face piece respirator 
designed to achieve a very close facial fit and very efficient filtration of airborne particles. This 
product filters at least 95% of airborne particles. Surgical N95s are designed to be protective 
against splashing and fluids.  

Page 68 of 124



 

3 
Tuberculosis Exposure Control Plan 

18. Occupational Health and Safety Administration (OSHA): The U.S. federal agency in the 
Department of Labor that ensures safe and healthful working conditions for workers by setting 
and enforcing standards and by providing training, outreach, education, and assistance.  

19. Personal protective equipment (PPE): Equipment worn to minimize exposure to hazards that 
cause workplace injuries and illnesses. These injuries and illnesses may result from contact with 
biological pathogens, as well as chemical, radiological, physical, electrical, mechanical, or other 
workplace hazards. Types of PPE include, but are not limited to, gloves, safety glasses/eye 
protection, shoes, earplugs, hard hats, respirators, shoe covers, gowns, coveralls, aprons, and 
full-body suits.  

20. Powered air-purifying respirator (PAPR): An air-purifying respirator that uses a blower to 
force the ambient air through air-purifying elements to the inlet covering. PAPRs are reusable 
devices that typically are used with a disposable hood or shroud.  

21. Tuberculin skin testing (TST): The standard method of determining whether a person is 
infected with Mycobacterium tuberculosis. The TST, also referred to as the Mantoux test, is 
performed by injecting 0.1 mL of tuberculin purified protein derivative (PPD) into the inner 
surface of the forearm in the intradermal layer of the skin. The skin test reaction should be read 
48 to 72 hours after placement.  

22. Tuberculosis (TB) disease: The disease caused by Mycobacterium tuberculosis. The bacteria 
usually attack the lungs (pulmonary TB) but can also attack other parts of the body such as the 
kidneys, spine, and brain. Not everyone infected with TB becomes sick. As a result, two 
conditions are defined: LTBI and active TB disease.  

23. Workforce: Persons whose conduct, in the performance of their work for NIHD, is under the direct 
control of NIHD or have an executed agreement with NIHD, whether or not NIHD pays them. The 
Workforce includes employees, NIHD contracted and subcontracted staff, NIHD clinically privileged 
Physicians and Advanced Practice Providers (APPs), and other NIHD health care providers involved in 
the provision of care of NIHD’s patients. 

POLICY:  
It is the policy of NIHD to mitigate the risk of TB transmission through the implementation of the 
Tuberculosis Prevention and Exposure Management Plan. This plan is based on evidence-based 
guidance from the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) Guidelines for Preventing the 
Transmission of Tuberculosis in Healthcare Facilities, the California Occupational Health and Safety 
Administration (Cal OSHA), and state and local public health authorities.  

The scope of the Tuberculosis Prevention and Exposure Management Plan includes all patients, 
volunteers, and NIHD Workforce to align with institutional policies for these groups. All NIHD 
workforce members are expected to comply with this policy.   

PROCEDURE:  
Administrative Controls:  

Leadership 
 The Infection Prevention Committee is responsible for and provides oversight 

of the Tuberculosis Control and Exposure Management Plan, including the development 
and implementation of the plan. The infection prevention and control 
program serves as a resource for consultations or emergencies related to TB control and 
exposure management.  

 The Infection Prevention Committee approves the facility TB risk assessment annually. 
See attachments for annual risk assessment. 

Page 69 of 124



 

4 
Tuberculosis Exposure Control Plan 

 The infection prevention and control program applies epidemiologic principles, including 
the use of community setting, and department-specific TB infection control data to 
drive improvements and sustainability in TB prevention and control.  

 The infection prevention or designee reports all cases of TB to the local public health 
department in accordance with regulations established by Title 17, California Code of 
Regulations.  

 Infection Prevention is notified with any of the following:  
o A patient is placed on airborne precautions with suspicions 

of Mycobacterium Tuberculosis. Notification Process: Phone, Email, or House 
Supervisor Report 

o A patient with MDR TB or XDR TB is admitted or diagnosed. Notification 
Process: Immediately via phone or person 

o A patient has positive AFB smears or cultures suggestive of TB. Notification 
Process: EHR alert and Lab personnel 

o A DNA probe is positive for TB. Notification Process: EHR alert and or Lab 
personnel 

o NIHD workforce member has had a work-related exposure to TB or has worked 
with active TB disease. Notification Process: To Infection Prevention and 
Employee Health via Phone, Email, or House Supervisor Report 

o There are intraoperative, pathology, or autopsy findings suggestive of 
TB. Notification Process: Immediately via phone or person 

                 Education: 

 NIHD workforce will receive education on TB Prevention and exposure risk factors within both 
the facility and community. 

o Specific information and training about occupational hazards 
and required protective measures are provided to new employees at the time 
of initial onboarding and annually thereafter.  

o Training occurs through completion of a TB training module via the electronic 
learning information system (LIS) and assigned polices on hire and annually 
thereafter. The training is provided at no cost to the employee, during regular 
working hours at an accessible location.   

o Additional training may occur at department meetings or one-on-one if requested or 
needed.  

 Signage is posted at entrances to remind patients, visitors, and workforce members of 
proper respiratory etiquette (e.g., covering mouth or wearing a mask when coughing) 
and respiratory hygiene, which are critical TB prevention measures.  

Patient Management for Patients with Suspected or Confirmed TB:  
      Symptoms, Screening and Diagnosis 

 Symptoms of pulmonary TB include coughing for 2 weeks or longer, loss of appetite, 
unexplained weight loss, night sweats, bloody sputum or hemoptysis, hoarseness, fever, 
fatigue, and chest pain.  

 It is important to consider the diagnosis of TB in all symptomatic patients.  
 Patients with signs and symptoms with alternative diagnoses should be evaluated for TB 

if they do not respond to therapy for those diagnoses.  
 Screening and triage algorithms should include questions for possible TB.  

Page 70 of 124



 

5 
Tuberculosis Exposure Control Plan 

 Smear and culture examination of three sputum specimens is the main diagnostic 
procedure for pulmonary TB.  

o Each of the three specimens should be collected over 3 days, the specimens 
should be an early-morning specimen, as respiratory secretions pool overnight.  

o It is important that specimens for smear and culture have adequate volume of 
expectorated sputum and contain little saliva.  

o Nucleic acid amplification, nucleic acid probes, and incubation of cultures are 
performed. 

o Processing of all laboratory specimens for TB smear/culture is performed in a 
Biosafety Level 3 laboratory.  

 Implementation of Airborne Precautions:  
 Airborne Precautions is required for the following patients:  

 Any patient with sputum smears positive for acid-fast bacilli (AFB)—unless the patient has a 
confirmed diagnosis with an atypical mycobacterial infection 
(e.g., Mycobacterium avium complex).  

 Any patient with a positive AFB culture, with positive or negative AFB smears—unless the 
patient has a confirmed diagnosis with an atypical mycobacterial infection 
(e.g., Mycobacterium avium complex).  

 Any patient with respiratory symptoms and/or radiographic evidence of a 
pulmonary infiltrate/cavity suggestive of TB. This includes patients diagnosed 
with Mycobacterium other than tuberculosis (MOTT) in the past and patients with known TB 
exposures.  

 Any patient diagnosed with TB in the last year who is not compliant with medical 
therapy, or who is considered a therapy failure, until the patient’s AFB smear/infectivity is 
established.  

 Patients with known or suspected laryngeal TB or TB of the oral cavity.  
 Patients with extrapulmonary TB who have respiratory symptoms and/or radiographic 

presence of pulmonary infiltrates, as well as patients with extrapulmonary TB in 
situations where there is potential for aerosolization (e.g., wound lavage, surgical biopsy).  

 Pediatric patients with a pulmonary abscess and/or lung cavitation.  
 Patients with risk factors for TB who have symptoms suggestive of TB and/or infiltrates or 

cavitary lesions. Risk factors include, but are not limited to:   

o HIV infection  
o Being displaced from one’s place of residence or experiencing homelessness  
o Living in incarceration  
o Having immigrated or traveled from a country where TB is endemic  

 Suspected or confirmed patients with pulmonary tuberculosis are placed on Airborne 
Precautions utilizing an airborne infection isolation room (AIIR).  
o If no AIIR Initiate Airborne Precautions, place patient in surgical mask, keep doors 

closed, and place airborne signage.  
o Signage is placed on the door to identify the personal protective 

equipment (PPE) required for entry.  
o The door and any windows must remain closed to ensure negative pressure 

is maintained.  

Page 71 of 124



 

6 
Tuberculosis Exposure Control Plan 

o If there is an anteroom, the anteroom doors should also remain closed. Routine entry and 
exit should occur through the anteroom doors in lieu of hallway door.  

 Any LIP, nurse, or infection preventionist may place a patient suspected with TB in Airborne 
Precautions. 

 If patient placed in AIIR ensure that negative pressure measurement mechanism indicates 
negative pressure in the room a green light indicates this.  

 Negative Pressure must be maintained, and documentation of pressure status daily, while the 
room is in use. 

 Workforce members entering airborne isolation room of suspected or confirmed TB patient 
shall don a NIOSH approved, fit-tested N95 respirator or powered air-purifying 
respirator (PAPR). 

Room Placement:  
The following areas are designated as Airborne Infection Isolation Rooms (AIIR):  

     a.   Room 5 (Med-Surg) AIIIR 
   b.   ICU Room 1 AIIR 

    c.   Any patient room – minimal negative pressure. Keep door closed with Airborne Isolation 
sign visible.  

   d.    Negative Pressure with portable HEPA filter in Pediatric Clinic, and Rural Health Clinic. 
Visitation for Airborne Precaution Patients:  

 Visitors must report to the nurses’ station to obtain instructions before entering an AIIR.  
 Visitors are limited to immediate family members.  
 Children are discouraged from visiting patients in Airborne Precautions.  
 Parents or caregivers of pediatric patients with TB shall be evaluated for TB promptly.  
 Until active TB is ruled out, symptomatic visitors may not enter the facility except as a 

patient. Notify the infection prevention whenever visitors present with symptoms. 
 Visitors are to wear an N95 mask when entering patient room. Health care personnel should 

instruct visitors on how to use the respirator before entering the area and perform a N95 mask seal-
check. Visitors who decline a mask should be educated on the risks of TB transmission and the signs 
and symptoms of the disease.  

Patient Transport:  
 Patients on Airborne Precautions must not leave the room except for medically necessary 

diagnostic and therapeutic procedures.  
 Make every effort to schedule any procedures/diagnostics as the last case of day.  
 Avoid holding the patient in a waiting area. Transport them directly into the procedure room 

and close the door.  
 Patients who must leave the room for tests or procedures of necessity must don a surgical 

mask during transport and for the duration of the stay outside of the negative pressure 
room.   

 Additional measures during transport include:  

o Visitors cannot occupy transport elevators or other workforce not involved in the 
transport of the patient.  

o If ventilation is required for the patient, use a portable ventilator with a bacterial 
filter. If bagging is necessary, use a bag with a bacterial filter.  

o Personnel participating in the transport and those that provide care to the patient in the 
destination unit must wear N95 respirators or PAPR. 

Page 72 of 124



 

7 
Tuberculosis Exposure Control Plan 

High-Hazard Procedures:  
 High-hazard procedures for patients in Airborne Precautions are performed in a 

negative pressure room, if possible.   
 Careful planning with procedural areas and the infection prevention and control 

program must occur to ensure procedures are not significantly delayed and airborne 
isolation is maintained.   

 The following are classified as high-hazard procedures: 

o Cough-inducing procedures (i.e., induced sputum)  
o Surgical procedures (negative pressure is likely not possible; therefore, schedule 

the patient as last case of the day) 
o Nebulized treatments  
o Bronchoscopy, intubation, suctioning 
o Autopsy  
o Specimen and culture manipulation  

Treatment:  

 Treatment of suspected or confirmed Mycobacterium Tuberculosis will occur through 
consultation with the local public health department jurisdiction and will be in 
accordance with the latest CDC guidance.  

 Current treatment recommendations for latent-TB Infection (LTBI) 
and active TB disease can be located on one of the following:   

o CDC website: https://www.cdc.gov/tb/Workforce/clinical-
guidance/?CDC_AAref_Val=https://www.cdc.gov/tb/publications/guidelines/treat
ment.htm#cdc_generic_section_2-treatment    

o TB Curry Center UCSF Chapter 4 Treatment 
https://www.currytbcenter.ucsf.edu/products/page/chapter-4-treatment  

 Directly observed therapy (DOT) remains the standard of care for all patients with TB 
disease and should be used for all doses during therapy for treatment of TB disease.   

o All inpatient medication should be administered by DOT and reported to the local 
health department.   

o All patients on intermittent (i.e., once or twice per week) treatment for TB disease 
or LTBI should receive DOT.  

Discontinuation of Airborne Precautions:  

 For patients placed in isolation for the evaluation of suspected TB, consider discontinuation of 
isolation when an alternative diagnosis and clinical improvement are noted, and/or 
along with one of the following recommendations or supportive test results: 

o Three negative AFB smears from expectorated sputum. 
o Two negative Nucleic Acid Amplification Tests (NAAT). 
o Consultation with Inyo County Health Officer and Infection Prevention team. 

Page 73 of 124



 

8 
Tuberculosis Exposure Control Plan 

 For patients with confirmed TB, continuation or discontinuation of Airborne Precautions will 
depend on the following circumstances: 

o If drug-resistant TB is not suspected, isolation is discontinued if the 
patient exhibits adequate clinical response (improvement or resolution of respiratory 
symptoms and fever) to 14 days of treatment with an appropriate anti-tuberculosis 
medication regimen and three negative AFB smears from expectorated sputum. 
One specimen must be a first-morning sputum, and the other specimens can be obtained 8 
to 24 hours apart.  

o If MDR-TB or XDR-TB is suspected or confirmed, continue Airborne 
Precautions until the patient is discharged or has culture conversion (to culture negative) 
for two (2) consecutive months. 

Patient Discharge:  Coordinate patient discharge with the local health department and infection 
prevention to ensure appropriate follow-up and DOT appointments are scheduled, if needed. 

Patient Noncompliance:   

 NIHD workforce must notify the Infection Prevention if patients are noncompliant with 
the treatment regimen or isolation requirements.  

 The infection prevention and control program, in turn, contacts the local public health 
authorities for guidance. The patient may be subject to official quarantine based on local 
regulations and/or DOT after discharge.  

Patient Management for Patients with Suspected or Confirmed Extrapulmonary TB  

 Extrapulmonary TB is not usually communicable. However, some patients who have open 
draining wounds, abscesses, or lesions with high concentrations of AFB can produce droplet 
nuclei.  

 Contact Precautions are indicated when draining lesions are present in patients with 
extrapulmonary TB.  

 Providers evaluating patients with suspected extrapulmonary TB should also assess those 
patients for pulmonary TB.  

 Patients who are negative for pulmonary TB do not require Airborne Precautions for routine 
care. However, Airborne Precautions are required when a high-hazard procedure (e.g., wound 
irrigation or surgical biopsy) is performed on a site with potential TB where aerosolization may 
be possible.   

Patient Management for Patients with Suspected or Confirmed Mycobacteria Other than 
Tuberculosis  

 Patients with atypical mycobacterial infections (MOTT) are not considered infectious and do not 
require Airborne Precautions.  

 Examples of MOTT include, but are not limited to, Mycobacterium avium complex, 
M. kansasii, and M. gordonae.  

 

 

Page 74 of 124



 

9 
Tuberculosis Exposure Control Plan 

Cleaning and Disinfection  

 Maintain the Airborne Precautions sign on the door(s) of the patient’s room to 
inform environmental services personnel and others of the need to use respiratory protection 
upon entry until the approved air turnover time elapses.   

 The air turnover time is determined by the infection prevention and control team in collaboration 
with the facilities department based on the CDC Environmental Infection Control Guidelines 
Table B.1 

  TABLE 1: Air Exchange Within NIHD Departments:  
Department Name Air exchange per Hour 

(ACH) 
Minutes Required for Removal 

efficiency  
  99% 99.9% 

Emergency Department 6 ACH 46 69 
Emergency Department 

Triage  
12 ACH 23 35 

Med-Surg Non AIIR  6 ACH 46 69 

ICU Non AIIR 6 ACH 46 69 
AIIR M/S 5 & ICU 1 12 ACH 23 35 

OB 6 ACH 46 69 
Pre-op/PACU 6 ACH 46 69 

OR 25 ACH 14 21 
Outpatient Infusion 6 ACH 46 69 

Clinics 2 138 207 

 

 Use hospital-approved disinfectants and practices when cleaning rooms of patients with known 
or suspected TB, unless the patient also has a known or suspected infection with an organism 
that requires alternate disinfectants (e.g., Clostridioides difficile, Candida auris).  

 While disinfecting the room, personnel must don approved respiratory 
protection unless the appropriate air turnover time has elapsed.  

Laboratory Management:  

 Processing of all laboratory specimens for TB smear/culture is performed in a Biosafety Level 3 
laboratory.  

 Laboratory personnel processing specimens for Mycobacterium studies (AFB smears and 
culture) must don approved respiratory protection and use biological safety cabinets for all 
activities that potentially aerosolize TB. Such activities include handling unfixed tissues in 
surgical pathology and processing specimens in microbiology from patients with suspected or 
confirmed TB.  

 Nucleic acid amplification, nucleic acid probes, and incubation of cultures are performed in a 
Biosafety 2 laboratory. 

Page 75 of 124



 

10 
Tuberculosis Exposure Control Plan 

 The laboratory is responsible for meeting reporting requirements of all electronically laboratory-
reported (ELR) required public health reports and notifications for TB, as set forth by the state.  

 

Employee Health:  

Screening of Healthcare Personnel refer to policy titled Employee Health NIHD Workforce 
Tuberculosis Surveillance Program 

Post Exposure Management:  

 The infection prevention team investigates all TB cases and determines the need for workforce 
evaluation and follow-up with Infection Prevention/Employee Health Medical Director   

 The infection prevention and control program provides a definition of exposure. This 
definition considers the duration of time in contact with the individual, as well as the 
distance from the individual, the space, and activities and procedures occurring during contact.  

 In the event of TB exposure, a list of exposed personnel is compiled by the involved 
departments/areas and forwarded by the department manager to the Infection Prevention and 
Employee Health.  

 Employee Health helps coordinates all employee medical follow-up. 
 All TB exposures and subsequent mitigation opportunities are reported to Infection Prevention 

Committee.  
 Emergency Department performs initial medical screening for all workforce 

exposures. Employee Health does follow-up screening.  
 For workforce with a baseline negative TB test and no history of active TB disease or 

LTBI, an IGRA or TST test is performed when the exposure is identified. If that test is 
negative, an additional test is performed 8 to 10 weeks after the last exposure.  

 Employee Health immediately reports all cases of workforce TST or IGRA conversions or 
active TB to the infection prevention and control program. Appropriate public health reporting 
is also conducted.  

 Any employee, volunteer, or LIP who has been diagnosed with TB must immediately report the 
diagnosis to employee health.   

 If the individual with TB worked while having active TB disease, the manager of the unit should 
report the case immediately to the infection prevention and control program.  

Record Keeping: 

 Documentation of an NIHD workforce member is maintained in the individuals confidential 
employee health file. 

Environmental Controls: 

Ventilation: 

 The facilities department performs routine inspection, maintenance, and repair of the facility’s 
HVAC system to ensure engineering controls are functioning to meet the requirements of 
the Tuberculosis Prevention and Exposure Control Plan.  

Page 76 of 124



 

11 
Tuberculosis Exposure Control Plan 

 Qualified contractors perform work on the HVAC system in a timely manner, and 
documentation of maintenance work, repairs, and the facilities department maintains testing. 

Airborne Infection Isolation Rooms (AIIR): 

 Nursing staff will complete and document daily verification when a patient in Airborne Isolation is 
placed in Acute-Subacute room 5 and ICU 1. This is confirmed by ensuring that the green light located 
on the wall panel is on and working. 

 If alarm occurs, the nursing team will check for an open door or blocked air vent. If these conditions 
have been corrected or were not present and the alarm continues to sound, the nurse is to notify 
maintenance department immediately.  

 The maintenance department ensures that engineering controls of AIIRs are maintained to meet 
ventilation, air exchanges, and pressure relationship requirements. The maintenance department 
maintains documentation of AIIR testing.  

NIHD Workforce Screening for Respiratory Protection: 

EXPOSURE RISK PERSONNEL THAT REQUIRE FIT TESTING - Annually 
 Nursing Department (RNs, LVNs, CNAs, 
Medical  Office Assistants)  Case Managers, 
House Supervisors- RNs 

Rehabilitation Department 

Environmental Services/Talent Pool Cardiopulmonary/EKG/ECHO  
 Providers:  

 Emergency Department 
 Anesthesiologists 
 Surgeons 
 Pediatricians 
 Hospitalists 
 Same Day Clinic Providers  

Radiology Department except Radiologists 

Laboratory Clinical Staff Social Services  
Maintenance/Plant Operations  Students (if there is potential for patient 

contact with airborne isolation patients) 
 
 

EXPOSURE RISK PERSONNEL THAT REQUIRE FIT TESTING – Every Two Years.  
NIHD workforce member can elect to be fit tested annually. 

 
Patient Access, and Insurance Verifier Individuals providing interpreting services in patient 

care areas 
Dieticians & Diet Clerks Health Information Management (Medical Records) 
Pharmacy  Director of Facilities  
Security Radiologists and Clinic Providers except Same Day 

Clinic (see annual)  
 
FIT Test (N95 Mask/PAPR) COMPLIANCE:  

 Fit testing will be completed upon hire, and annually, or every two years based on exposure risk.  
 Additional fit testing: If workforce member reports, or the employer, physician or other LIP, supervisor, 

or program administrator makes visual observations of changes in the workforce members physical 

Page 77 of 124



 

12 
Tuberculosis Exposure Control Plan 

condition that could affect respirator fit. Such conditions include, but are not limited to, facial scarring, 
facial hair, dental changes, cosmetic surgery, or a significant change in body weight. 

 If, after passing a fit test, the workforce member subsequently notifies the employer, program 
administrator, supervisor, or physician or other LIP that the fit of the respirator is unacceptable, the 
workforce member shall be given a reasonable opportunity to select a different respirator face piece and 
to be retested. 

 Annual fit testing will be completed during the department’s scheduled time. Note: The new or 
transferring workforce member will be re-fit tested during their assigned time; example ICU nurse is 
hired or transferred in January he/she will be fit tested upon hire and re-fit tested again when it is 
department assigned time.   

 Failure to be fit tested by the last day of your departments assigned time will result in the inability to 
work the first day of the following assigned time until you have been fit tested.  

 Workforce members that are on leave of absence or vacation during the scheduled time of their 
department fit testing must be completed within five days of their return to work.   

 Notification of annual department fit testing will occur a month prior via email.  
 

Training:  

 All personnel who are required to wear respiratory protection will be trained during fit testing. 
 Instruction includes selection of the appropriate respirator, annual fit-testing 

requirements, proper donning and doffing techniques, and care of respirators.  
 Fit testing results are maintained in employee health record.  

Responsibilities:   

 All NIHD Workforce Will 
o Comply fully with the TB Prevention and Exposure Management Plan.  
o Comply with TB screening per regulatory requirements. 
o Comply with TB exposure management follow-up as directed. 
o Complete training.  
o Follow Standard and Transmission-Based precautions.  
o Comply with N95 particulate respirator fit-testing requirements and the facility 

respiratory protection plan. 
o Report personal exposures to TB and/or development of TB symptoms to Employee 

Health or Infection Prevention. 
o Report patients who have suspected or active TB to the infection prevention and control 

program per Title 17 and NIHD policy and procedure.   
 Employee Health: Will  

o Perform pre-employment screening, testing of workforce in accordance with regulatory 
recommendations, and inclusive of the baseline individual TB screening and risk 
assessment. 

o Ensure workforce  are notified of required testing and screening of personnel for TB in 
accordance with regulatory guidelines and the facility’s annual TB risk assessment.  

Page 78 of 124



 

13 
Tuberculosis Exposure Control Plan 

o Conduct testing and screening of personnel who are potentially exposed to TB, as 
follows: 

 Notify exposed personnel of need for testing or evaluation and required deadlines 
for testing or reporting. 

 Perform TST or IGRA and screening of workforce who have been identified by the 
infection prevention and control program as exposed to a case of active TB.  

 Inform managers and human resources of personnel who are not compliant with 
testing or evaluation protocols after TB exposure.  

o Provide summary data of screening, testing, and TST/IGRA conversions to the infection 
prevention for dissemination to the Infection Prevention Committee. Workforce 
conversion information is to be submitted annually for the facility TB risk assessment.  

o Collaborate with the infection prevention to assist in the reporting of suspected, active, or 
latent TB infection as required by state or provincial regulations.  

o Report to Infection Prevention and the County Health Department any personnel positive 
for latent or active TB disease after an occupational exposure. 

o Coordinate and/or assist with the respirator fit-testing program.  

 Leadership Will 
o Ensure workforce follow policy and procedure  
o Ensure that workforce complete required infection prevention education.  
o Ensure that workforce satisfy TB screening and N95 particulate respirator fit-

testing requirements and the respiratory protection plan.  
o  Maintain an adequate supply of PPE.  
o  Report to employee health and the infection prevention whenever there is a suspected or 

confirmed exposure to TB.  
 Maintenance Department Will 

o Maintain appropriate AIIR ventilation and documentation in designated areas and critical 
air spaces.  

o Notify the clinical unit and the infection prevention whenever there is a malfunction or 
scheduled shutdown of the HVAC that could potentially affect the AIIR rooms, so 
that appropriate management of patients under Airborne Precautions can occur in a 
timely fashion.  

 Human Resources: Will 
o Support the corrective action process for personnel who do not follow 

the Tuberculosis Prevention and Exposure Management Plan.  
o Manage Workman’s Compensation and Family Medical Leave Act (FMLA) for personnel 

who may become infected with active TB due to occupational exposure.  
o Assign upon hire and annual education via Learning Information System (LIS) 

 Infection Prevention and Control Program: Will 

o Complete the annual TB risk assessment, present it to the infection prevention, 
and control committee for review and approval.  

o Complete the review and revision of the Tuberculosis Prevention and Exposure 
Management Plan and present it to Infection Prevention Committee for review and 
approval.  

Page 79 of 124



 

14 
Tuberculosis Exposure Control Plan 

o Provide TB education to workforce, including LIPs and volunteers, and others as needed.  
o Ensure that early identification and Airborne Precautions are promptly implemented and 

maintained for patients with suspected or confirmed TB upon notification, receipt of 
laboratory results, or other case-finding procedures.   

o Inform the Infection Prevention Committee of confirmed TB cases and exposure 
investigation results in coordination with Employee Health.  

o Conduct TB exposure investigations in accordance with the regulatory guidelines.  
o Notify attending physicians and the risk management program of patients with potential 

exposure to TB while in the facility.  
o Report active TB cases and TST/IGRA conversions for workforce to the local health 

department.  
o Maintain and evaluate pertinent TB data and inform the Infection Prevention 

Committee of the following:  

 Number of TB cases (patients)  
 Number of workforce exposures  
 Number of patient exposures  
 Community prevalence and/or incidence rates (obtained from state/provincial 

health departments)  
 Workforce conversion data  

o Participate in N95 and PAPR new product reviews and efforts to address any potential 
issues or recalls.  

 Licensed Independent Practitioners (LIPs) and Physicians: Will 
o Evaluate suspected TB cases.  
o Evaluate suspected extrapulmonary TB cases for pulmonary TB infection.  
o Notify the infection prevention and control program of patients with suspected or 

confirmed TB.  
o Initiate Airborne Precautions for patients with suspected or confirmed TB.  
o Contact infection prevention for approval of discontinuation of Airborne Precautions with 

suspected or confirmed TB patients.  
o Request infectious disease consultation as needed.  
o Work with the local health department to coordinate treatment and discharge planning 

Microbiology: Will  

o Inform the infection prevention and control program of positive AFB smears and 
cultures, and cultures growing TB.  

o Coordinate the sending of specimens to the state or provincial laboratory if confirmatory 
testing is not performed in house.  

o Ensure positive TB lab tests are electronically reported per CDPH reporting requirements  

Nursing: Will  

 Report patients who have suspected or active TB immediately to the infection prevention and 
control program.  

 In locations with AIIRs: 

Page 80 of 124



 

15 
Tuberculosis Exposure Control Plan 

o Assess the pressure readings using the audible and visual monitors while the 
patient remains on Airborne Precautions.  

o Immediately notify the maintenance department when a negative pressure monitor does 
not display the proper reading for an AIIR.  

o Notify all receiving locations of a TB patient’s Airborne Precautions status.  
o Provide patient, family, and visitor education on TB and Airborne Precautions, PPE, and 

respiratory precautions, including cough and respiratory etiquette.  
o Ensure that appropriate visitor restrictions are in place for patients in Airborne 

Precautions.   
o Report to LIPs/physicians and the infection prevention any concerns about visitors who 

may have active TB disease and may require local public health engagement.  
o Ensure that the patient with TB is appropriately masked during transport outside of their 

room for essential purposes.  

Respiratory Therapy and Anesthesia Personnel: Will 

 Place expiratory filters on ventilators of patients with known or suspected TB.  
 Perform high aerosolizing procedures in AIIR rooms when possible.  

Education:  
o Upon hire, annually and as needed:  

  All NIHD workforce will complete Employee Health TB education.  
  Workforce members that are identified for fit-testing will complete Aerosolized 

Transmissible Disease (ATD) Education. 

Risk assessment, TB infection control plan, and periodic assessment 
1.  Annual risk assessment  

   Obtain information concerning TB in the community from Inyo County Health Department. 
   Evaluate data concerning TB patients in the facility. 
  Evaluate data concerning tuberculin skin test (TST) conversions, or positive TB diagnostic 

testing among workforce in the facility. 
   Rule out evidence of person-to-person transmission.  

2.  Review TB infection control program  
3.  Repeat risk assessment as needed per federal, state, and local TB incidences.  

 
Identification, evaluation and isolation of patients 

1.  Early identification and isolation of patients with active tuberculosis or suspected of having tuberculosis. 
 Utilize Standard Precautions and Airborne Precautions for all patients. 
 Patients with symptoms of respiratory infection and severe cough must be triaged as quickly as 

possible. 
2.  Coughing patients are instructed on Respiratory Cough & Hygiene Etiquette 

 To cover their cough with tissues and dispose in appropriate receptacle. 
 Cough/sneeze into the crook of their elbow.  
 Have surgical mask applied.  
 Tissue dispensers are placed within reach of patients throughout the facility. 
 Signs are placed in waiting areas to remind patients to “Cover Your Cough.” 
 Respiratory hygiene stations equipped with tissues, facemasks and alcohol-based when not in a 

pandemic or national supply shortage/ hand rubs, at all hospital and clinic entrances.  

Page 81 of 124



 

16 
Tuberculosis Exposure Control Plan 

3. Nursing and registration staff have been trained, and are encouraged, to provide tissues and encourage 
patients to utilize the hygiene stations, and remind patients to cover cough using respiratory cough 
etiquette techniques Patients in outpatient waiting areas who are unable to contain their secretions should 
have surgical face mask applied and be moved to an exam room. If no exam room available place patient 
in isolated area and away from other patients and visitors.  

Triages Assessment Questions Includes:  
a.   Have you had a cough for more than three weeks? 
b.  Do you have: 
 Hemoptysis 
 Cough 
 Weight loss 
 Fatigue 
 Night sweats 
 Fever 
 Purulent sputum 

4. A patient answering YES to any of the above without any underlining infection or disease is 
suspicious for TB and shall be placed in respiratory isolation while medical evaluation is 
completed.  

5. Options for this interim placement are: 
 ER treatment room with Airborne Precaution signage door closed.  
 Room 5 (negative pressure room) Medical surgical unit. 
 Room 1 (negative pressure room) ICU   
 Any other unoccupied room – place Airborne Precaution signage on closed door. 

6. Further evaluation of the patient may include: 
    Obtain chest X-ray. 
    Obtain history of TB exposure. 
    Collect AFB smear/cultures x 3 on three separate days 
    Administer TST or QuantiFERON-TB Gold if applicable 

     
Managing patients suspected of having TB 

 Continue airborne isolation until TB is ruled out by Inyo County Health Officer.  
 Treatment initiated as determined by M.D. and Inyo County Health Officer. 
 Particulate Respirator (N95) or Powered Air Purifying Respirator (PAPR) is to be worn by 

all persons entering the room. 
 Visitors are to be triaged and limited to not expose other persons unnecessarily. 
 Visitors to be instructed in wear and fit of N95 this include mask seal check. 
 Patient on Airborne Isolation Room may only leave room for essential purposes only.  

HCW to wear N95 or PAPR; patient must wear regular surgical mask. 
 Isolation may be discontinued after three (3) consecutive negative AFB smears are 

obtained. 
 Patients can cohort if drug resistant TB has been ruled out in both patients.   
 If suspected or confirmed patient is seen in outpatient departments avoid having patients sit 

in waiting rooms and direct patient to enter by shortest route to exam room.  
 
  Surgical Procedures on Patients Suspected of Having TB 

 All procedures not deemed urgent should be postponed until patient is no longer infectious. 
 Schedule surgery at end of day. 
 Traffic in and out of the operating room must be kept to a minimum. 

Page 82 of 124



 

17 
Tuberculosis Exposure Control Plan 

 Surgical team to wear N95 or Powered Air Purifying Respirator (PAPR) instead of surgical 
masks.  

 Follow Airborne Precautions  
 Don N95 or PAPR If possible recover patient in Airborne Infection Isolation Room (AIIR). 

If unable, recover patient in PACU close door and place Airborne Isolation signage.  Limit 
visitors.  

 
Cough-inducing procedures (bronchoscopy, ET intubation, sputum inductions). 

 Do not perform such procedures on TB patients unless necessary. 
 Perform such procedures in Airborne Infection Isolation Rooms. If unable, complete 

procedure in room with door closed at all times and traffic must be limited.  HCW must 
wear N95 or PAPR.          

 After completion of procedures, TB patients should remain in the booth or special 
enclosure until their coughing subsides. Encourage patient to wear surgical mask before 
and after procedure.  

   Respiratory Protection Program 
 Use N95 Powered Air Purifying Respirator (PAPR) as required by OSHA. 
 Upon hire and annual fit testing completed on workforce who are at risk for airborne 

infection, as outline in the Aerosolized Transmissible Disease Plan.  
 Fit testing for N95 or (PAPR) 

o Mask must fit snugly around the face to prevent air leakage. 
o If excessive facial hair prevents adequate fit, hair should be removed or HCW 

should use PAPR after training.   
o Masks should not be reused unless directed by the Infection Preventionist or 

designee due to national shortage or pandemic. If masks are re-used store in 
paper bag. 

o If a medical condition, i.e., asthma, makes it difficult for the HCW to wear a 
N95 or PAPR for extended periods, contact the Employee Health nurse. If it is 
determined, that the HCW cannot wear PAPR or N95, he/she must not care for 
TB patients.   

 
REFERENCES:   

1. California Department of Public Health (CDPH). (2022). Title 17, California Code of Regulations 
(CCR) §2500, §2593, §2641.5- 2643.20, and §2800-2812 Reportable Diseases and Conditions *. 
Retrieved from 
https://www.cdph.ca.gov/Programs/CID/DCDC/CDPH%20Document%20Library/ReportableDiseas
es.pdf 

2. California Department of Public Health (CDPH). (2022). California Reportable Disease Information 
Exchange: Electronic Laboratory Reporting (ELR). Retrieved from 
https://www.cdph.ca.gov/Programs/CID/DCDC/Pages/CalREDIE-ELR.aspx#  

3. California Hospital Association. (2018). CHA Record and Data Retention Schedule 2018. Retrieved 
from 
file:///H:/Public/CHA/CHA%20Record%20and%20Data%20Retention%20Schedule%202018.pdf  

4. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2023). TB Prevention in Health Care Settings: 
Tuberculosis Infection Control. Retrieved from https://www.cdc.gov/tb-healthcare-
settings/Workforce/infection-control/index.html  

5. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (2023). Tuberculosis Risk Assessment for Health Care 
Facilities. Retrieved from https://www.cdc.gov/tb-healthcare-settings/Workforce/facility-risk-
assessment/index.html     

Page 83 of 124



 

18 
Tuberculosis Exposure Control Plan 

6. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). (2025), Tuberculosis (TB) Clinical Guidelines. 
Retrieved from https://www.cdc.gov/tb/Workforce/clinical-
guidance/?CDC_AAref_Val=https://www.cdc.gov/tb/publications/guidelines/treatment.htm#cdc_ge
neric_section_2-treatment    

7. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). (2024). Infection Control Appendix B Air. 
Retrieved from https://www.cdc.gov/infection-control/Workforce/environmental-control/appendix-
b-air.html  

8. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2019) Accessed 2/19/25. Guidelines for 
environmental infection control in healthcare facilities. Recommendations of CDC and the 
Healthcare Infection Control Practices Advisory Committee (HICPAC). Retrieved from 
https://www.cdc.gov/infection-control/media/pdfs/guideline-environmental-
h.pdf?CDC_AAref_Val=https://www.cdc.gov/infectioncontrol/pdf/guidelines/environmental-
guidelines-P.pdf  

9. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2024)Testing for Tuberculosis. Retrieved 
https://www.cdc.gov/tb/testing/?CDC_AAref_Val=https://www.cdc.gov/tb/topic/testing/testi
ngbcgvaccinated.htm  

10. Curry International Tuberculosis Center. (2025) Tuberculosis Infection Control Retrieved from 
https://www.currytbcenter.ucsf.edu/ Curry International Tuberculosis Center. (2024). Chapter 4 
Treatment. Retrieved from https://www.currytbcenter.ucsf.edu/products/page/chapter-4-treatment  

11.  Occupational Safety and Health Administration. (2015). OSHA INFORSHEET. Retrieved from 
https://www.osha.gov/sites/default/files/publications/OSHA3790.pdf  

CROSS REFERNCES:  
1. Aerosolized Transmissible Disease Exposure Plan Respiratory Protection Program 
2. Employee Health NIHD Workforce Tuberculosis Surveillance Program.  
3. Airborne Infection Isolation Room (AIIR) 
4. N95 Mask Fit Testing Using Porta Count Pro 
5. Lippincott Procedures Airborne Precautions, Standard Precautions, Respiratory Hygiene and Cough 

Etiquette ambulatory care, Reportable Diseases.  
6. Infectious/Non Infectious Waste Disposal Procedure  
7. Care and Donning of a Powered Air Purifying Respirator  
8. Linen Laundry Processes AB 2679 

RECORD RETENTION AND DESTRUCTION: 
1. Employee Health Fit testing, TB Testing and Exposures: Duration of Employment plus 30 years.  
2. Employee Training 6 years after date of training.  
3. Records of inspection, testing and maintenance of non-disposable engineering controls including 

ventilation and other air handling systems, air filtration systems, containment equipment, biological 
safety cabinets, and waste treatment systems (include name and affiliation of person performing the 
test/ inspection/maintenance, date, significant findings, actions). Life of Equipment plus 6 years 

Supersedes: v.6 Tuberculosis Exposure Control Plan 
 
    

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 84 of 124



Page 85 of 124



Page 86 of 124



Page 87 of 124



Page 88 of 124



Page 89 of 124



Page 90 of 124



Page 91 of 124



Page 92 of 124



Page 93 of 124



Page 94 of 124



Page 95 of 124



Page 96 of 124



Page 97 of 124



Page 98 of 124



Page 99 of 124



Page 100 of 124



Page 101 of 124



Page 102 of 124



Page 103 of 124



Page 104 of 124



Page 105 of 124



Page 106 of 124



Page 107 of 124



Page 108 of 124



Page 109 of 124



Page 110 of 124



Page 111 of 124



Page 112 of 124



Page 113 of 124



Page 114 of 124



Page 115 of 124



Page 116 of 124



Page 117 of 124



Page 118 of 124



Page 119 of 124



Page 120 of 124



Page 121 of 124



Page 122 of 124



Page 123 of 124



Page 124 of 124


	Table of Contents
	Agenda
	Agenda

	Consent Agenda
	Special Meeting Minutes - August 20, 2025
	Regular Meeting Minutes - August 20, 2025
	Administrator On-Call
	Aerosolized Transmissible Disease Exposure PlanRespiratory Protection Program
	Capital Budget Process
	Critera for Storeroom Items
	Death and Disposition of Body
	DI - MRI Safety Plan
	Emergency Purchase
	Employee Health NIHD Workforce Onboarding Policy
	Standardized Procedure – Minor Surgical Procedures Policy for the Nurse Practitioner or Certified Nurse Midwife
	Tuberculosis Exposure Control Plan
	Use of Medical Cannabis for Terminally Ill Patients

	Chief Executive Officer Report
	Conflict of Interest Information
	Appointment of Committee Alternates 

	Chief Nursing Officer / Chief Operating Officer Report
	Director of Nursing and Outpatient Services 
	Inpatient Services 

	Chief of Staff Report
	Chief of Staff Report - September 2025

	Finance Committee
	Capital Items for Approval Memo
	Capital Items - FY 25/26 Approval 

	Chief Financial Officer Report
	CFO Report Financial Summary and Operation Insights - July 2025
	NIHD Financial Summary July 2025
	NIHD KPIs FYE July 2025 
	NIHD Financial Update July 2025
	NIHD Financial Statements July 2025


